

# NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

TO BE HELD ON SEPTEMBER 20, 2023

and

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR AND PROXY STATEMENT

DATED AUGUST 8, 2023

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS	Page
GENERAL INFORMATION	
Introduction	
GLOSSARY	
PART I – GENERAL PROXY-RELATED INFORMATION	
Solicitation of Proxies	
Appointment of Proxy	
Revocability of Proxy	
Advice to Beneficial Holders of Common Shares	
Exercise of Discretion with Respect to Proxies	
Signature on Proxies	
Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon	
Voting Securities and Principal Holders of Voting Securities	
PART II – ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING BUSINESS	
Item 1 — Receipt of the Financial Statements and Auditors' Report	7
Item 2 — Fixing Number of Directors	7
Item 3 — Election of Directors	7
Item 4 — Appointment of Auditors	9
Item 5 — Approval of the Option Plan	9
Item 6 – Approval of Option Grants to Independent Directors	12
Item 7 — Other Business	
PART III – STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	
General	
All dollar amounts reported in this Part III are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated	
Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements	
Oversight and Description of Named Executive Officer Compensation	
Pension Disclosure	21
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans	
Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers.	22
PART IV — CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURE	
Board of Directors	
Directorships	
Orientation and Continuing Education	
Ethical Business Conduct	
Etinear Business Conduct	23
APPENDIX A – AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP	A-1
APPENDIX B - COMPENSATION COMMITTEE CHARTER OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP	
APPENDIX C - RESERVES COMMITTEE CHARTER OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP	
APPENDIX D – ESG COMMITTEE MANDATE OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP	D-1
APPENDIX E – STOCK OPTION PLAN.	E-1

APPENDIX F – NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-102, CHANGE OF AUDITOR REPORTING PACKAGE ......F-1

#### ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

## NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

## TO BE HELD ON SEPTEMBER 20, 2023

**NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT** an annual general and special meeting (the "**Meeting**") of holders ("**Shareholders**") of common shares ("**Common Shares**") of Arrow Exploration Corp. (the "**Corporation**") will be held at the offices of Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP located at Suite 1600, 421 7<sup>th</sup> Avenue SW, Calgary Alberta, T2P 4K9 on September 20, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. (Calgary time), and any and all adjournments or postponements thereof. The Meeting shall be held for the following purposes:

- 1. to receive and consider the financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the report of the independent auditors thereon;
- 2. to fix the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at six (6);
- 3. to elect directors of the Corporation to hold office until the next annual meeting of Shareholders or until their successors are elected or appointed;
- 4. to appoint Ernst & Young LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, as independent auditors of the Corporation for the ensuing year, at a remuneration to be fixed by the board of directors;
- 5. to consider, and if deemed appropriate, to pass, with or without variation, an ordinary resolution approving the amendment and restatement of the Corporation's rolling up to 10% stock option plan;
- 6. to consider, and if deemed appropriate, to pass, with or without variation, an ordinary resolution approving option grants to the Corporation's independent directors in order to conform with the requirements of relevant UK Corporate Governance Guidelines; and
- 7. to transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or postponement thereof.

Shareholders will receive a form of proxy or a voting instruction form in the mail, so that they can vote their Common Shares.

Registered shareholders who are unable to attend the Meeting in person and wish to be represented by proxy are requested to date, sign and return the accompanying form of proxy in accordance with the instructions set forth in the accompanying management information circular dated August 8, 2023 ("**Information Circular**") and form of proxy. A form of proxy will not be valid unless it is deposited at the office of Computershare Trust Company of Canada either (i) by mail at 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, 100 University Ave, Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1; (ii) completed online at <u>www.investorvote.com</u>; or (iii) completed via telephone by calling 1-866-732-VOTE (8683), not later than 10:00 a.m. (Calgary time) on September 18, 2023 and not later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) prior to any adjournment(s) of the Meeting.

If you are a non-registered Shareholder, please complete and return the voting instruction form or other authorization form provided to you in accordance with the instructions provided. Failure to do so may result in your Common Shares not being eligible to be voted at the Meeting.

The form of proxy confers discretionary authority with respect to: (i) amendments or variations to the matters of business to be considered at the Meeting; and (ii) other matters that may properly come before the Meeting. As of the date hereof, management of the Corporation knows of no amendments, variations or other matters to come before the Meeting other than the matters set forth in this "Notice of Meeting".

The details of all matters proposed to be put before the Shareholders at the Meeting are set forth in the Information Circular.

The record date for the determination of Shareholders entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting is August 1, 2023 (the "**Record Date**").

The Corporation is using the "notice and access" procedures adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators for the delivery of the Information Circular. The principal benefit of the notice and access procedure is that it reduces costs and the environmental impact of producing and distributing large quantities of paper documents. Shareholders who have consented to delivery of materials are receiving this Notice of Meeting in an electronic format.

# ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO VOTE PRIOR TO THE MEETING BY ANY OF THE MEANS DESCRIBED IN THE INFORMATION CIRCULAR.

# All Shareholders should access and review all information contained in the Information Circular before voting.

**DATED** this 8 day of August, 2023.

# BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

"Gage Jull"

Gage Jull Chairman of the Board Arrow Exploration Corp.

# MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR AND PROXY STATEMENT

# **GENERAL INFORMATION**

## Introduction

Shareholders should not construe the contents of this Information Circular as legal, tax or financial advice and should consult with their own professional advisors in considering the relevant legal, tax, financial or other matters contained in this Information Circular.

All capitalized terms used in this Information Circular and not otherwise defined have the meanings set forth under "Glossary".

Unless otherwise specified, all references to "dollars" or "\$" shall mean Canadian dollars.

# GLOSSARY

In addition to other terms defined herein, the following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Information Circular, including the summary hereof. Terms and abbreviations used in the financial statements included in, or appended to, this Information Circular are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender include all genders.

"ABCA" means the *Business Corporations Act* (Alberta), R.S.A. 2000, c. B-9, as amended, including the regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Affiliate" means a Company that is affiliated with another Company as described below:

- a) a Company is an "Affiliate" of another Company if: (a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other; or (b) each of them is controlled by the same Person;
- b) a Company is "controlled" by a Person if: (a) voting securities of the Company are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of that Person; and (b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the directors of the Company; or
- c) a Person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: (a) a Company controlled by that Person; or (b) an Affiliate of that Person or an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that Person.

"AIM" means the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange plc.

"AIM Rules" means the AIM Rules for Companies.

"Associate" when used to indicate a relationship with a Person, means: (a) an issuer of which the Person beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of the issuer; (b) any partner of the Person; (c) any trust or estate in which the Person has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which a Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity; (d) in the case of a Person who is an individual: (i) that Person's spouse or child; or (ii) any relative of the Person or of his spouse who has the same residence as that Person; but (e) where the TSXV determines that two (2) Persons shall, or shall not, be deemed to be Associates with respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member corporation (as defined in TSXV Policy 1.1 - *Interpretation*), then such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of Rule D.1.00 in the TSXV Rule Book and Policies with respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company.

"Audit Committee" means the committee formed to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Corporation.

"Beneficial Shareholder" means a Shareholder who does not hold their Common Shares in their own name.

"Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Corporation.

"Broadridge" means Broadridge Financial Solutions Inc.

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a civic or statutory holiday in the City of Calgary, Alberta.

"Canacol" means Canacol Energy Ltd., a corporation incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Province of Alberta.

"Chief Executive Officer" or "CEO" of the Corporation means each individual who acted as chief executive officer of the Corporation or acted in a similar capacity for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

"Chief Financial Officer" or "CFO" of the Corporation means each individual who acted as chief financial officer of the Corporation or acted in a similar capacity for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

"Common Shares" or "Shares" means the common shares in the capital of the Corporation.

"**Company**" unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual.

"**Compensation Committee**" means the committee formed to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its duties relating to compensation of the executive officers of the Corporation.

"Corporation" means Arrow Exploration Corp., a corporation existing under the laws of the Province of Alberta, with its head office located in Calgary, Alberta.

"ESG Committee" means Environmental, Social and Governance Committee formed to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the Corporation's social responsibility and sustainability management.

"Fundraising" means the issue and sale by the Corporation, on October 25, 2021, of 140,949,545 units, with each such unit consisting of one (1) Common Share and one-half (0.5) Warrant at a price of 6.25p (C\$0.106125) per unit.

"Information Circular" means this management information circular and proxy statement of the Corporation including the Notice of Meeting and all Appendices hereto.

"Insider" if used in relation to an Issuer (as defined in TSXV Policy 1.1 - *Interpretation*), means: (a) a director or senior officer of the Issuer; (b) a director or senior officer of a Company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Issuer; (c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the Issuer; or (d) the Issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities.

"Meeting" means the annual general and special meeting of Shareholders to be held on September 20, 2023.

"Nomad" means the nominated advisor of the Corporation.

"**NI 54-101**" means National Instrument 54-101 – *Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.* 

"NI 58-101F2" means National Instrument 58-102F2 – Corporate Governance Disclosure (Venture Issuers).

"Notice of Meeting" means the notice of the Meeting which forms a part of this Information Circular.

"**Option Plan**" has the meaning ascribed thereto under the heading "Annual and Special Meeting Business – Item 5-Approval of the Option Plan" in this Circular.

"Options" means options to purchase Common Shares granted under the Option Plan.

"Person" means a Company or individual.

"Record Date" means August 1, 2023, being the record date for the Meeting.

"Reserves Committee" means the committee formed to act on behalf of the Board of Directors in fulfilling the Board of Directors' oversight responsibilities with respect to evaluating and reporting on the Company's oil and gas reserves.

"SEDAR" means System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval being the official website that provides access to most public securities documents and information filed by issuers and investment funds with the Canadian Securities Administrators in the SEDAR filing system at the website address of www.sedarplus.ca/landingpage/.

"Shareholder" means a holder of outstanding Common Shares.

"Transfer Agent" means Computershare Trust Company of Canada.

"TSXV" means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc.

"Warrant" means a common share purchase warrant issued pursuant to the Fundraising, with each whole warrant entitling the holder thereof to acquire one Common Share at a price of C\$0.15282 per Common Share.

# PART I – GENERAL PROXY-RELATED INFORMATION

# ALL SHAREHOLDERS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO VOTE PRIOR TO THE MEETING BY ANY OF THE MEANS DESCRIBED IN THIS INFORMATION CIRCULAR.

### **Solicitation of Proxies**

This Information Circular is furnished to Shareholders in connection with the solicitation of proxies by or on behalf of the management of the Corporation for use at the Meeting to be held at the offices of Gowling WLG (Canada) LLP located at Suite 1600, 421 7th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K9 on September 20, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. (Calgary time) for the purposes set forth in the Notice of Meeting. It is expected that such solicitation will be primarily by mail but may also be made by telephone or other electronic means of communication or in person by the directors and officers of the Corporation. The cost of such solicitation will be borne by the Corporation. The information contained in this Information Circular is given as of August 8, 2023, except where otherwise indicated.

### **Appointment of Proxy**

The individuals named in the accompanying form of proxy are directors and/or officers of the Corporation. A Shareholder wishing to appoint some other person or company (who need not be a Shareholder) to represent the Shareholder at the meeting has the right to do so, either by inserting such person's name in the blank space provided in the form of proxy or by completing another form of proxy and, in either case, delivering the completed proxy to the Transfer Agent, at Computershare Trust Company of Canada either (i) by mail at 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, 100 University Ave, Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1; (ii) completed online at <u>www.investorvote.com</u>; or (iii) completed via telephone by calling 1-866-732-VOTE (8683), not later than 10:00 a.m. (Calgary time) on September 18, 2023 and not later than 48 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) prior to any adjournment(s) of the Meeting. Such a Shareholder should notify the nominee of the appointment, obtain the nominee's consent to act as proxy and instruct the nominee on how the Shareholder's shares are to be voted. In any case, the form of proxy should be dated and executed by the Shareholder or the Shareholder's attorney authorized in writing, or if the Shareholder is a corporation, under its corporate seal, or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized.

Notice and access is being used to deliver this Information Circular and other meeting-related materials, including the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, together with the auditor's report therein and related management's discussion and analysis (collectively, the "**Materials**"), to both registered Shareholders and Beneficial Shareholders. This means that the Materials will be posted online for Shareholders to access electronically. You will receive a package in the mail with a notice outlining the matters to be addressed at the Meeting, explaining how to access and review the Materials electronically, and how to request a paper copy at no charge. You will also receive a form of proxy or a voting instruction form in the mail, so you can vote your Common Shares. Such notice and a voting information form will forwarded through Broadridge or broker, as applicable, to non-objecting beneficial owners at the Corporation's expense.

Management of the Corporation does not intend to pay for intermediaries to forward to objecting Beneficial Shareholders under NI 54-101 the proxy-related materials and Form 54-101F7 – *Request for Voting Instructions Made by Intermediary*, and, in the case of an objecting Beneficial Shareholder, the objecting Beneficial Shareholder will not receive the materials unless the objecting Beneficial Shareholder's intermediary assumes the cost of delivery.

If you have any questions about our use of notice and access, please contact Computershare Investor Services Inc., toll-free in North America at 1-800-564-6253 or by email at <a href="mailto:service@computershare.com">service@computershare.com</a>.

# **Revocability of Proxy**

A Shareholder who has given a proxy has the power to revoke it. In addition to revocation in any other manner permitted by law, a proxy may be revoked by an instrument in writing signed by the Shareholder or by his or her attorney authorized in writing and either delivered to the Transfer Agent at the place specified above at any time up

to and including the last Business Day preceding the day of the Meeting or any adjournment(s) thereof or deposited with the chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting prior to the commencement of the Meeting.

# **Advice to Beneficial Holders of Common Shares**

The information set forth in this section is of significant importance to many Shareholders, as a substantial number of Shareholders do not hold shares in their own name. Beneficial Shareholders should note that only proxies deposited by Shareholders whose names appear on the records of the Corporation as the registered holders of Common Shares can be recognized and acted upon at the Meeting. If Common Shares are listed in an account statement provided to a Shareholder by a broker, then in almost all cases those Common Shares will not be registered in the Shareholder's name on the records of the Corporation. Such Common Shares will more likely be registered under the name of the Shareholder's broker or an agent of that broker. In Canada, the vast majority of such shares are registered under the name of CDS & Co. (the registration name for The Canadian Depositary for Securities, which acts as nominee for many Canadian brokerage firms). In the United States of America, the majority of such shares are registered in the name of CEDE & Co., which company acts as a nominee for many brokerage firms.

Existing regulatory policy requires brokers and other intermediaries to seek voting instructions from Beneficial Shareholders in advance of shareholders' meetings. The various brokers and other intermediaries have their own mailing procedures and provide their own return instructions to clients, which should be carefully followed by Beneficial Shareholders in order to ensure that their Common Shares are voted at the Meeting. The form of proxy supplied to a Beneficial Shareholder by its broker (or the agent of the broker) is substantially similar to the form of proxy provided directly to registered Shareholders by the Corporation. However, its purpose is limited to instructing the registered Shareholder (i.e., the broker or agent of the broker) how to vote on behalf of the Beneficial Shareholder. The vast majority of brokers now delegate responsibility for obtaining instructions from clients to Broadridge in Canada. Broadridge typically prepares a machine-readable voting instruction form, mails those forms to Beneficial Shareholders and asks Beneficial Shareholders to return the forms to Broadridge, or otherwise communicate voting instructions to Broadridge (by way of the Internet or telephone, for example). Broadridge then tabulates the results of all instructions received and provides appropriate instructions respecting the voting of shares to be represented at the Meeting. A Beneficial Shareholder who receives a Broadridge voting instruction form cannot use that form to vote Common Shares directly at the Meeting. The voting instruction forms must be returned to Broadridge (or instructions respecting the voting of Common Shares must otherwise be communicated to Broadridge) well in advance of the Meeting in order to have the Common Shares voted. If you have any questions respecting the voting of Common Shares held through a broker or other intermediary, please contact that broker or other intermediary for assistance.

Although a Beneficial Shareholder may not be recognized directly for the purposes of voting Common Shares registered in the name of his broker, a Beneficial Shareholder may be appointed as proxyholder for the registered shareholder and vote the Common Shares in that capacity. Beneficial Shareholders who wish to indirectly vote their Common Shares as proxyholder for the registered shareholder should enter their own names in the blank space on the form of proxy provided to them and return the same to their broker (or the broker's agent) in accordance with the instructions provided by such broker.

# **Exercise of Discretion with Respect to Proxies**

The Common Shares represented by proxy will be voted or withheld from voting on any motion, by ballot or otherwise, in accordance with any indicated instructions. In the absence of such direction, and you do not a appoint a person other than management as your proxyholder, such shares will be voted FOR the resolutions referred to in items 2 through 6 of the Notice of Meeting.

If any amendment or variation to matters identified in the Notice of Meeting is proposed at the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or postponement thereof, or if any other matters properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment(s) or postponement thereof, the proxy form confers discretionary authority to vote on such amendments or variations or such other matters according to the best judgment of the appointed proxyholder. Unless otherwise stated, the Common Shares represented by the proxy will be voted in favour of the election of nominees set forth in this Information Circular except where a vacancy among such nominees occurs prior to the Meeting, in which case, such Common Shares may be voted in favour of another nominee in the proxyholder's discretion. As at the date of

this Information Circular, the management of the Corporation is not aware of any amendments or variations or other matters to come before the Meeting.

# **Signature on Proxies**

The form of proxy must be executed by the Shareholder or his or her duly appointed attorney authorized in writing or, if the Shareholder is a corporation, by a duly authorized officer whose title must be indicated. A form of proxy signed by a person acting as attorney or in some other representative capacity should indicate that person's capacity (following that person's signature) and should be accompanied by the appropriate instrument evidencing qualification and authority to act (unless such instrument has been previously filed with the Corporation).

# Interest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon

No director or officer of the Corporation, nor any proposed nominee for election as a director of the Corporation, nor any Associate or Affiliate of any one of them, has any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial ownership of securities or otherwise, in any matter to be acted on at the Meeting except as described in this Information Circular under "*Part II – Annual Meeting Business – Election of Directors*".

# Voting Securities and Principal Holders of Voting Securities

As at the date of this Information Circular, there are 235,274,893 Common Shares currently issued and outstanding. Shareholders as of the Record Date are entitled to receive notice of and attend and vote at the Meeting.

Every Shareholder represented in person or by proxy (and entitled to vote) has one vote for each Common Share held. On a poll or ballot, every Shareholder present in person or by proxy has one vote for each Common Share held. All votes on matters described under the heading "Annual and Special Meeting Business" below will be conducted by way of ballot.

Only Shareholders whose names have been entered in the register of Shareholders at the close of business on the Record Date will be entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the Meeting. To the extent a Shareholder transfers the ownership of any of its Common Shares after the Record Date and the transferee of those Common Shares establishes that it owns such Common Shares and requests, at least ten (10) days before the Meeting, that the transferee's name be included in the list of Shareholders entitled to vote at the Meeting, such transferee shall be entitled to vote such Common Shares at the Meeting.

To the best of the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Corporation, no person other than Canacol beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over 10% or more of the voting rights attached to all of the issued and outstanding Common Shares as at the date of this Information Circular. As of the date hereof, Canacol is the registered holder of 41,715,205 Common Shares (representing approximately 17.7% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares) and 18,357,602 Warrants.

# PART II – ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETING BUSINESS

The following are the matters to be acted upon at the Meeting:

# Item 1 — Receipt of the Financial Statements and Auditors' Report

At the Meeting, Shareholders will receive and consider the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the independent auditors' report thereon, but no vote by the Shareholders with respect thereto is required or proposed to be taken.

# Item 2 — Fixing Number of Directors

The Board of Directors presently consists of six (6) directors, each of whose term expires at the Meeting. At the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to fix the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at six (6).

Unless otherwise directed, it is the intention of the persons designated in the accompanying form of proxy to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution fixing the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at six (6). In order to be effective, the ordinary resolution in respect of fixing the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at six (6) must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of this ordinary resolution.

# Item 3 — Election of Directors

The persons named in the form of proxy intend to nominate and vote for the election of, as a director, each of the persons whose names are set forth below. Each director elected will hold office until the next annual meeting of the Corporation or until his successor is duly elected, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with the by-laws of the Corporation.

The following table sets forth the name and city, province/state and country of residence of each of the persons to be nominated for election as directors, the number of voting securities of the Corporation beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which each nominee exercises control or direction, the period served as director and the principal occupation of each nominee during the last five (5) years. The information contained herein is based upon information furnished by the respective nominees.

Name, Province or State and Country of Residence and Position Held	Number of Securities Beneficially Owned, Controlled or Directed as at Record Date and percentage of total issued and outstanding <sup>(1)</sup>	Offices Held and Time as Director or Officer	Principal Occupation During the Last Five Years
<b>G. Marshall Abbott</b> <sup>(3)(4)</sup> Calgary, Alberta, Canada CEO and Director	3,579,802 Common Shares 1.5%	CEO and Director since April 14, 2020	From April 2020 to present, Director and CEO of Arrow Exploration. From May 2012 – March 2020 Founder, CEO and Executive Chairman of Rampart Oil Inc. a private junior oil company operating in southern Alberta. From June 2010 – February 2020 Founder, CEO and Executive Chairman of Bernum Petroleum Ltd. a private junior oil and gas company with production in Alberta. Director for the Ann and Sandy Cross Conservation Area from 2003 to present. Director Iron Bridges Resources in 2018. Director for Calgary Public Library January 2016 - Present.
<b>Grant M. Carnie</b> <sup>(3)(4)</sup> Denver, Colorado, USA Director	Nil	Director since June 3, 2021	From January 2008 to June 2020 Director of SFC Energy Partners, a private equity partnership focused on oil and gas opportunities operating onshore North America. Included in his role at SFC, Mr. Carnie was on the Board of six private portfolio companies.
<b>Gage Jull</b> <sup>(2)(4)(5)</sup> Toronto, Ontario, Canada, Executive Chairman and Director	3,995,672 Common Shares 1.7%	Director since March 19, 2020.	Co-founder and Chairman of Bordeaux Capital Corp., a Toronto based project financing, mergers & acquisitions advisory firm from November 2015 to December 2021. Chairman of TRYP Therapeutics, Inc September 2020 to present. Director of GeneTether Therapeutics, Inc. October 2021 to present. Managing Director, Corporate Finance of Mackie Research Capital, an investment banking and securities brokerage services company, from August 2004 to November 2015.
<b>Ian Langley</b> <sup>(2)(4)(5)</sup> London, United Kingdom Director	Nil	Director since August 1, 2023	Founder and Chairman, from 2018, of Airswift Global AS a UK based workforce solutions firm with more than \$1 billion in revenue, Mr. Langley oversaw continuous global organic expansion for over 30 years and also completed more than ten M&A transactions including four private equity investments and two listed bond transactions. In addition to being the chair of the Airswift Audit Committee, Mr. Langley has been the Chairman of EPI Group Ltd. since June 2014 and Boston Energy Ltd. since July 2023.
<b>Ravi Sharma</b> <sup>(3)(4)</sup> Bogotá, Cundinamarca, Colombia Director	13,370 Common Shares 0.01%	Director since September 28, 2018	From October 2015 to present, Chief Operating Officer of Canacol Energy Ltd., an oil and gas exploration and production company. Previously Head of Production and Development - Afren Energy, a hydrocarbons exploration and production company, from September 2010 to April 2015.
Anthony Zaidi <sup>(2)(4)(5)</sup> Bogota, Cundinamarca, Colombia Director	Nil	Director since December 31, 2019	General Counsel and Vice President Business Development Canacol Energy Ltd., an oil and gas exploration and production company, from November 2011 to present.

Notes:

Common Shares beneficially owned or over which control or direction is exercised, directly or indirectly, as at Record Date, is based upon the information furnished to the Corporation by the above noted individuals. Member of the Audit Committee. The Chair of the Audit Committee is Mr. Langley. Member of the Compensation Committee. The Chair of the Compensation Committee is Mr. Carnie. Member of the Reserves Committee. The Chair of the Reserves Committee is Mr. Sharma. Member of the ESG Committee. The Chair of the ESG Committee is Mr. Zaidi. (1)

(2) (3)

(4) (5)

### Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions of Proposed Directors

To the knowledge of management of the Corporation, none of those persons who are proposed directors of the Corporation are, or have been within the past ten (10) years, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company, including the Corporation, that while such person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than thirty (30) consecutive days, or after such persons ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or an order that denied the relevant company, was the subject of a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company, was the subject of a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than thirty (30) consecutive days, which resulted from an event that occurred while acting in such capacity.

To the knowledge of management of the Corporation, none of those persons who are proposed directors of the Corporation is, or has been within the past ten (10) years, a director or executive officer of any company, including the Corporation, that, while such person was acting in that capacity, or within one (1) year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. None of the persons who are proposed directors of the Corporation have, within the past ten (10) years, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or insolvency, receiver to any legislation relating to bankrupt to bankrupt or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or insolvency, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold his assets.

To the knowledge of management of the Corporation, none of those persons who are proposed directors of the Corporation have been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement with a securities regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable Shareholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

Unless otherwise directed, it is the intention of the persons designated in the accompanying form of proxy to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution respecting the election as directors of the six (6) nominees set forth above. In order to be effective, the ordinary resolution in respect of the election of each nominee director must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of this ordinary resolution.

#### Item 4 — Appointment of Auditors

At the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to approve an ordinary resolution to approve the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP ("**E&Y**"), of Calgary, Alberta as independent auditors of the Corporation at a remuneration to be fixed by the Board of Directors and to hold such office until the next annual meeting of Shareholders. E&Y has served as the Corporation's auditors since October 31, 2022.

In accordance with Part 4.11 NI 51-102, the "Reporting Package", which includes the notice of change of auditor, letter from the former auditor and letter from the successor auditor, was filed with the necessary securities commissions on SEDAR (www.sedarplus.ca/landingpage/) on November 4, 2022, and copies of these documents are to this Information Circular as Appendix F.

Unless otherwise directed, it is the intention of the persons designated in the accompanying form of proxy to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution to approve E&Y as independent auditors of the Corporation and to authorize the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration paid to the auditors. In order to be effective, the ordinary resolution in respect of the appointment of the auditors of the Corporation and to fix their remuneration must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of this ordinary resolution.

## Item 5 — Approval of the Option Plan

On August 8, 2023, the Board approved an amended and restated option plan (the "**Option Plan**"), which remains subject to shareholder approval and TSXV approval. The Option Plan is identical to the option plan that was last

approved by the Shareholders on July 19, 2022, except for the addition of a Net Exercise Right (as defined below). The Net Exercise Right (as defined below) provides each Option holder, other than Investor Relations Service Providers (as such term is defined in TSXV Policy 4.4 – *Security Based Compensation*), when entitled to exercise an Option, to deal with such Option on a "net exercise basis" (the "**Net Exercise Right**"). The Board may determine in its discretion that such Net Exercise Right, if any, grants an Option holder the right to surrender such Option in whole or in part by notice in writing to the Corporation and in lieu of receiving Shares pursuant to the exercise of the Option, receive, that number of Shares, disregarding fractions, which is equal to the quotient obtained by:

- i. subtracting the exercise price of the Option from the VWAP of the Shares on the business day immediately prior to the exercise of the Net Exercise Right and multiplying the remainder by the number of shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of the Option; and
- ii. dividing the net amount obtained under (i) by the VWAP of the Shares on the business day immediately prior to the exercise of the Net Exercise Right.

A copy of the Option Plan is attached hereto as Appendix "E".

The Option Plan is a "rolling" share-based compensation plan pursuant to which up to an aggregate of 10% of the Common Shares outstanding may be reserved for issuance under the Option Plan and any other security-based compensation plans of the Corporation. Pursuant to the policies of the TSXV, "rolling" share-based compensation plans must receive shareholder approval annually. The Option Plan was last approved by the Shareholders on July 19, 2022.

The purpose of the Option Plan is to provide directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Corporation or its subsidiaries, or any other individual or body corporate who may be granted an Option (as defined below) pursuant to the requirements of the TSXV (the "**Participants**") with a Share related mechanism to attract, retain and motivate Eligible Participants (as defined in the Option Plan), to reward such of those persons by the grant of options under the Option Plan by the Board from time to time for their contributions toward the long term goals of the Corporation and to enable and encourage such persons to acquire Shares as long term investments. The material terms of the Option Plan are described below. The Option Plan is currently the Corporation's only securities-based compensation arrangement pursuant to which securities may be issued from treasury of the Corporation.

The maximum number of Shares issuable under the Option Plan at any time plus the number of Shares reserved for issue under all other security-based compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the number of Shares issued and outstanding as of each date Options are awarded, inclusive of all Shares presently reserved for issuance pursuant to previously granted stock options. Options that have been cancelled, surrendered (other than Options surrendered pursuant to the Net Exercise Right), forfeited or that have expired without being exercised in full shall continue to be issuable under the Option Plan.

Under the Option Plan, unless requisite disinterested Shareholder approval is obtained, the number of Shares that may be reserved for issue to any one person under Options or other security-based compensation arrangements granted in any 12-month period shall not exceed 5% of the outstanding Shares calculated as at the date of grant. The total number of Shares issuable pursuant to Options to any one Consultant shall not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Corporation as at the date of grant. The maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable pursuant to all Options granted in any 12-month period to all Investor Relations Service Providers (as such term is defined in TSXV Policy 4.4 – *Security Based Compensation*) must not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Corporation, calculated as at the date of grant. The Board is authorized to determine the price per Share and the number of Shares that may be allotted to Participant and all other terms and conditions of the Options, subject to the terms of the Option Plan and the rules of the TSXV. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exercise price per Share shall not be shall not be less than the closing price of the Shares on the day preceding the date of grant, less any discount permitted by the TSXV, or such other price as may be required or permitted by the TSXV.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable pursuant to Options granted (or any other security-based compensation granted or issued) to insiders of the Corporation (as a group) must not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares at any point in time, unless requisite disinterested shareholder approval is obtained. Furthermore,

the maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable pursuant to Options granted (or any other security-based compensation granted or issued) in any 12-month period to insiders of the Corporation (as a group) must not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares, calculated as at the date the Option is granted to any insider, unless requisite disinterested shareholder approval is obtained.

Options granted under the Option Plan may be exercisable for a period of up to 10 years and may vest at such times as determined by the Board at the time of grant, subject to acceleration in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the expiration date for an Option occurs during a Blackout Period (as defined in the Plan), the expiration date for such Option shall be the date that is the tenth business day after the expiry date of the Blackout Period. The exercise price must be paid in full on any exercise of Options.

Further, if an Option holder ceases to hold their position with the Corporation for any reason other than death, their Options may be exercised within the earlier of the expiry date and a period of up to 90 days following the date the Option holder ceases to be in that role, but only to the extent the Option holder was entitled to exercise the Option at the date of such cessation. In the event of death of an Option holder, their Options may be exercised within the earlier of the expiry date and a period of time not exceeding 12 months, and only to the extent the Option holder was entitled to exercise the date of death. Options granted pursuant to the Option Plan may not be transferred or assigned.

The Option Plan provides that in the event of a change of control the Board of Directors may determine the manner in which all unexercised Options granted under the Option Plan will be treated, including requiring the acceleration (conditionally or otherwise) of the time for the exercise of such stock options by the holder thereof and of the time for the fulfillment of any conditions or restrictions on such exercise, subject to the certain rights provided to holders set forth in the Option Plan. If the Board of Directors elects to accelerate (conditionally or otherwise) the vesting of any or all outstanding stock options immediately prior to the completion of a change of control transaction, it may also determine that all such outstanding stock options will be purchased by the Corporation or a related entity for an amount per option equal to the transaction price, less the applicable exercise price (except that where the exercise price exceeds the transaction price, the amount per stock option for such stock options will be \$0.01), as of the date such transaction is determined to have occurred or as of such other date prior to the transaction closing date as the Board of Directors may determine. For the purposes of the Option Plan, "transaction price" means the fair market value of a share based on the consideration payable in the applicable transaction as determined by the Board of Directors.

A "change of control" is defined in the Option Plan to include: (i) the acquisition by any persons acting jointly or in concert (as determined by the *Securities Act* (Alberta) (the "**Securities Act**")), whether directly or indirectly, of Common Shares that, together with all other Common Shares held by such persons, constitute in the aggregate more than 50% of all outstanding voting securities of the Corporation; (ii) an amalgamation, arrangement or other form of business combination of the Corporation with another corporation that results in the holders of voting securities of that other corporation holding, in the aggregate, more than 50% of all outstanding voting securities of the corporation resulting from the business combination; (iii) the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Corporation to another person, other than in the ordinary course of business of the Corporation or to a related entity; or (iv) any other transaction that is deemed to be a "change of control" for the purposes of the Option Plan by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion.

Under the Option Plan, if an "Offer" (as defined below) is made which, if successful, would result in a change of control, then all unexercised and unvested outstanding Options shall immediately vest and become exercisable by the stock option holders, notwithstanding any other vesting provisions in the Option Plan or in an option agreement, as to all or any of the Common Shares in respect of which such options have not previously been exercised, but such Common Shares may only be purchased for tender pursuant to such Offer. If for any reason such Common Shares are not taken up and paid for by the offeror pursuant to the Offer, any such Common Shares so purchased by a stock option holder shall be deemed to be cancelled and returned to the treasury of the Corporation, shall be added back to the number of Common Shares remaining available under the Option Plan and, upon presentation to the Corporation of share certificates representing such shares properly endorsed for transfer back to the Corporation, the Corporation shall refund to the stock option holder all consideration paid for such shares and, in such event, the stock option holder shall thereafter continue to hold the same number of unexercised and unvested outstanding stock options on the same terms and conditions, including the exercise price thereof, as were applicable thereto immediately prior to the time the

subject Offer was made. For the purposes of the Option Plan, "Offer" means an offer made generally to the holders of Common Shares in one or more jurisdictions to acquire, directly or indirectly, Common Shares and which is in the nature of a "takeover bid" as defined in the Securities Act and where the Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on a stock exchange and are not exempt from the formal bid requirements of the Securities Act.

The Shareholders of the Corporation will be asked to consider and if thought fit, approve an ordinary resolution reapproving the Option Plan. The text of the ordinary resolution which management intends to place before the Meeting for approval, confirmation and adoption, with or without modification, is as follows:

"BE IT RESOLVED as an ordinary resolution of the Corporation that:

- 1. The stock option plan (the "**Plan**") of Arrow Energy Corp. (the "**Corporation**"), substantially in the form attached as Appendix "E" to the management information circular of the Corporation dated August 8, 2023 be and is hereby approved, ratified and confirmed.
- 2. The form of the Plan may be amended in order to satisfy the requirements or requests of any regulatory authorities, including the TSX Venture Exchange or at the discretion of the board of directors of the Corporation (the "**Board**") acting in the best interests of the Corporation without requiring further approval of the shareholders of the Corporation.
- 3. All issued and outstanding stock options previously granted, including stock options previously granted pursuant to previous stock option plans, be and are continued and are hereby ratified, confirmed and approved.
- 4. The Board (or any duly authorized committee of the Board) from time to time is authorized to grant options in the capital stock of the Corporation pursuant to and in accordance with the Plan and the Corporation is authorized to reserve and issue Common Shares in the capital of the Corporation for issuance upon exercise of awards granted pursuant to the Plan.
- 5. The shareholders of the Corporation hereby expressly authorize the Board to revoke this resolution before it is acted upon without requiring further approval of the Shareholders in that regard.
- 6. Any one (or more) director(s) or officer(s) of the Corporation be and is hereby authorized and directed, on behalf of the Corporation, to take all necessary steps and proceedings and to execute, deliver and file any and all documents (whether under corporate seal of the Corporation or otherwise) that may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this resolution."

# Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has unanimously determined that approval of the foregoing resolution is in the best interests of the Corporation and unanimously recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the foregoing resolution at the Meeting. Unless otherwise directed, it is the intention of the persons designated in the accompanying form of proxy to vote in favour of the foregoing resolution. In order to be effective, the foregoing resolution must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of this ordinary resolution.

# Item 6 – Approval of Option Grants to Independent Directors

Following the admission to listing of the Corporation's Common Shares on AIM, the Board was advised by its Nomad at that time (being Arden Partners) and other advisors that, under relevant UK Corporate Governance Guidelines, in order for directors to be considered an "independent director" it is necessary to consult with shareholders and their support obtained prior to granting options to relevant director. As such, the Corporation is seeking shareholder approval to grant Options on an ongoing basis to its independent directors pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Option Plan and within all limits set out therein and pursuant to all terms and conditions required by TSXV policies and AIM Rules.

Accordingly, at the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to approve an ordinary resolution authorizing the Corporation to grant options to its independent directors on an ongoing basis pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Option Plan and within all limits set out therein and pursuant to all terms and conditions required by TSXV policies and AIM Rules (the "**Option Grant Resolution**"). The Option Grant Resolution must be passed by a majority of the vote cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of the Option Grant Resolution.

The full text of the Option Grant Resolution is as follows:

"BE IT RESOLVED as on ordinary resolution of the Corporation THAT:

- 1. The Corporation be and is hereby authorized to grant options to its independent directors on an ongoing basis pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Option Plan and within all limits set out therein and pursuant to all terms and conditions required by TSX Venture Exchange policies and AIM Rules for Companies.
- 2. Any one director or officer of the Corporation is hereby authorized and directed to do all acts and things, to execute and deliver all agreements, documents and instruments, to give all notices and to deliver, file and distribute all documents and information which such person determines to be necessary or desirable to give effect to the intent of these resolutions.
- 3. The foregoing resolution shall remain in full force and effect until revoked by the Shareholders."

## Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has unanimously determined that approval of the Option Grant Resolution is in the best interests of the Corporation and unanimously recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the Option Grant Resolution at the Meeting. Unless otherwise directed, it is the intention of the persons designated in the accompanying form of proxy to vote in favour of the Option Grant Resolution. In order to be effective, the Option Grant Resolution must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by Shareholders who vote in respect of this ordinary resolution.

### Item 7 — Other Business

The directors and officers of the Corporation are not aware of any matters, other than those indicated above, which may be submitted to the Meeting for action. However, if any other matters should properly be brought before the Meeting, the form of proxy confers discretionary authority to vote on such other matters according to the best judgment of the person holding the proxy at the Meeting.

# PART III - STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

## General

The "Named Executive Officers" of the Corporation are defined by securities legislation to mean the following individuals: (i) any individual who served as Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation during the most recently completed financial year; (ii) any individual who served as Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation during the most recently completed financial year; (iii) the Corporation's three most highly compensated executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer, at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose compensation was more than \$150,000 for that financial year; and (iv) each individual who would be a "Named Executive Officer" under (iii) above but for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Corporation, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of the most recently completed financial year-end.

With respect to the financial year ended December 31, 2022, the Named Executive Officers of the Corporation were: Mr. Gage Jull, Mr. G. Marshall Abbott, Mr. Joe McFarlane and Mr. Phil Miller.

# All dollar amounts reported in this Part III are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated.

#### Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation for the Financial Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

	Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities								
Name and Position	Year	Salary, Consulting Fee, Retainer or Commission (\$) <sup>(5)</sup>	Bonus (\$)	Committee or Meeting Fees (\$)	Value of Perquisites (\$) <sup>(10)</sup>	Value of All Other Compensation (\$) <sup>(6) (7) (8) (9)</sup>	Total Compensation (\$)		
Gage Jull <sup>(1)</sup>	2022	412,329	322,800	nil	12,376	315,212	1,062,717		
Director and Chairman of the Board	2021	236,093	241,667	nil	N/A	303,777	781,537		
Marshall Abbott <sup>(2)</sup>	2022	411,488	322,800	nil	58,007	452,188	1,244,483		
CEO and Director	2021	235,890	275,000	nil	N/A	313,002	823,893		
Joe McFarlane <sup>(3)</sup>	2022	412,329	322,800	nil	14,478	315,212	1,064,820		
CFO	2021	236,093	241,667	nil	N/A	303,777	781,537		
Phil Miller Senior VP Exploration	2022	220,000	38,511	nil	4,808	113,160	376,479		
Anthony Zaidi Director	2022	85,558	nil	nil	nil	107,142	192,700		
Director	2021	52,257	nil	nil	nil	129,068	181,325		
Ravi Sharma	2022	85,558	nil	nil	nil	137,817	233,375		
Director	2021	52,257	nil	nil	nil	129,068	181,325		
Grant M. Carnie <sup>(4)</sup>	2022	85,558	150,015	nil	nil	122,700	358,273		
Director	2021	44,090	nil	nil	nil	nil	44,090		
Maria Charash Koundina <sup>(4)</sup>	2022	85,558	150,015	nil	nil	122,700	358,273		
Director	2021	44,090	nil	nil	nil	nil	44,090		

Notes:

(1) Mr. Gage Jull was appointed Director and Executive Chairman of the Board on April 14, 2020 with an annual salary of \$200,000. In October 2021, Mr. Jull's base salary was changed to \$338,346 (USD 270,000) annually and on June 1<sup>st</sup> 2022 his base salary was changed to \$455,018 (USD 350,000). Mr. Jull received Nil compensation for acting as director of the Corporation and his compensation figures were converted using the average exchange rates of 0.798 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2021 and 0.7692 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2022.

(2) Mr. Marshall Abbott was appointed CEO on April 14, 2020 with an annual salary of \$200,000. In October 2021, Mr. Abbott's base salary was changed to \$338,346 (USD 270,000) annually on June 1st 2022 his base salary was changed to \$455,018 (USD 350,000). Mr. Abbott received Nil compensation for acting as director of the Corporation and his compensation figures were converted using the average exchange rates of 0.798 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2021 and 0.7692 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2022.

Mr. Joseph McFarlane was appointed CFO on April 24, 2020. In October 2021, Mr. McFarlane's base salary was changed to \$338,346 (USD 270,000) annually on June 1<sup>st</sup> 2022 his base salary was changed to \$455,018 (USD 350,000). His compensation figures were converted using the average exchange rates of 0.798 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2021 and 0.7692 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2022.

(4) Each Mr. Carnie and Ms. Charash Koundina became directors of the Corporation on June 3, 2021.

(5) Beginning January 1, 2020, Director's fees were set at \$20,105 (USD15,000) per year for all non-executive Directors and on June 1, 2021 they were increased to \$75,583 (USD60,315) per year. Beginning January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2022, non-executive Director's fees were increased to \$ 85,803 (USD 66,000 per year). All directors compensation figures were converted using the average exchange rates of 0.7461 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2020, 0.798 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2021 and 0.7692 Cad per USD 1 for the year 2022.

- (6) On December 13, 2021, the Company granted stock options to Mr. Gage Jull (2,250,000 options), Mr. Marshall Abbott (2,450,000 options), Mr. Joe McFarlane (2,250,000), Mr. Max Satel (2,450,000), Mr. Ravi Sharma (1,000,000 options) and Mr. Anthony Zaidi (1,000,000 options), 1/3 of which shall vest over each of the next three years with a strike price of \$0.13 per option. For compensation disclosure purposes, these options were valued using the fair market value at the date they were granted using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following variables: a) risk-free rate 0.50%; b) Annualized Volatility 159.48%; c) dividend rate 0%; and d) Forfeiture rate 54%.
- (7) On June 9, 2022, the Corporation granted stock options to Mr. Marshall Abbott (400,000 options) and Mr. Phil Miller (900,000 options), 1/3 of which shall vest over each of the next three years with a strike price of \$0.28 per option. For compensation disclosure purposes, these options were valued using the fair market value at the date they were granted using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following variables: a) risk-free rate 1.50%; b) Annualized Volatility 153.39%; c) dividend rate 0%; and d) Forfeiture rate 41%.
- (8) On September 7, 2022, the Corporation granted stock options to Mrs. Maria Charash (1,000,000 options), Mr. Grant Carnie (1,000,000 options) and Mr. Ravi Sharma (250,000 options), 1/3 of which shall vest over each of the next three years with a strike price of \$0.26 per option. For compensation disclosure purposes, these options were valued using the fair market value at the date they were granted using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following variables: a) risk-free rate of 3.00 % and 1.50%; b) Annualized Volatility 150.26%; c) dividend rate 0%; and d) Forfeiture rate 37.48%.
- (9) On December 21, 2022, the Corporation granted stock options to Mr. Gage Jull (1,515,000 options), Mr. Marshall Abbott (1,581,666 options), Mr. Joe McFarlane (1,515,000), Mr. Ravi Sharma (433,333 options) and Mr. Anthony Zaidi (433,333 options), 1/3 of which shall vest over each of the next three years with a strike price of \$0.13 per option. For compensation disclosure purposes, these options were valued using the fair market value at the date they were granted using a Black-Scholes valuation model based on the following variables: a) risk-free rate 3.75% and 3%; b) Annualized Volatility 147.02%; c) dividend rate 0%; and d) Forfeiture rate 34.50%.
- (10) Value of perquisites include other employee benefits paid in cash such as Health Spending Account (HAS), Wellness Spending Account (WSA) and parking.

# Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities Granted or Exercised During the Financial Year Ended December 31, 2022

Compensation securities were granted to directors or Named Executive Officers of the Corporation during the most recently completed financial year as set forth below.

	<b>Compensation Securities</b>							
Name and Position	Type of Compensati on Security	Number of Compensation Securities, Number of Underlying Securities, and Percentage of Class <sup>(1)</sup>	Date of Issue or Grant	Issue Conversi on or Exercise Price (\$) <sup>(6)</sup>	Closing Price of Security or Underlying Security on Date of Grant (\$)	Closing Price of Security or Underlying Security at Year End (\$)	Expiry Date	
<b>Gage Jull</b> <sup>(2)</sup> Director and Chairman of the Board	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	1,515,000 0.69%	December21, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of June 21, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
Marshall Abbott <sup>(2)</sup> CEO and Director	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	400,000 0.18%	June 9, 2022	\$0.28	\$0.28	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of December 9, 2023, 2024 and 2025	
Marshall Abbott <sup>(2)</sup> CEO and Director	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	1,581,666 0.72%	December 21, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of June 21, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
Joe McFarlane <sup>(2)</sup> CFO	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	1,515,000 0.69%	December 21, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of June 21, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
Phil Miller Senior VP Exploration	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	900,000 0.41%	June 9, 2022	\$0.28	\$0.28	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of December 9, 2023, 2024 and 2025	
Anthony Zaidi Director	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	433,333 0.20%	December 21, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of June 21, 2024, 2025 and 2026	

	Compensation Securities							
Name and Position	Type of Compensati on Security	Number of Compensation Securities, Number of Underlying Securities, and Percentage of Class <sup>(1)</sup>	Date of Issue or Grant	Issue Conversi on or Exercise Price (\$) <sup>(6)</sup>	Closing Price of Security or Underlying Security on Date of Grant (\$)	Closing Price of Security or Underlying Security at Year End (\$)	Expiry Date	
Ravi Sharma Director	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	250,000 0.11%	September 7, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of March 7, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
Ravi Sharma Director	Stock Option <sup>(4)</sup>	433,333 0.20%	December 21, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of June 21, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
<b>Grant M. Carnie</b> <sup>(3)</sup> Director	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	1,000,000 0.46%	September 7, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of March 7, 2024, 2025 and 2026	
<b>Maria Charash</b> Koundina <sup>(3)</sup> Director	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	1,000,000 0.46%	September 7, 2022	\$0.26	\$0.26	\$0.29	1/3 of the options on each of March 7, 2024, 2025 and 2026	

Notes:

(1) Each Option entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share. The formula used for calculating the percentage of the class is as follows: # of Common Shares issuable upon exercise of the applicable Options / # of issued and outstanding Common Shares as of December 31, 2022 x 100.

(2) Messrs. Jull, Abbott and McFarlane do not hold any compensation securities other than the Stock Options and Phantom Stock Options described in the table immediately above and the Phantom Shares described above under the heading "Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation For the Financial Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021".

(3) Each Mr. Carnie and Ms. Charash Koundina became directors of the Corporation on June 3, 2021. Ms. Charash Koundina ceased to be a director of the Corporation on March 9, 2023.

(4) All Options are subject to the terms and conditions of the Option Plan, as further described in *Stock Option Plan and Other Incentive Plans* below. The Options vest in thirds, with one third vesting upon each of the first, second and third anniversaries of issuance.

Compensation securities were exercised by directors or Named Executive Officers of the Corporation during the most recently completed financial year as set forth below.

Name and Position	Type of Compensation Security	Number of Underlying Securities Exercised	Exercise Price Per Security (\$)	Date Of Exercise	Closing Price Per Security on Date of Exercise (\$)	Difference Between Exercise Price and Closing Price on Date of Exercise (\$)	Total Value on Exercise Date (\$)
Gage Jull Director and Chairman of the Board	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	750,000	\$0.13	December 19, 2022	\$0.27	\$0.14	107,203
Marshall Abbott CEO and Director	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	400,000	\$0.05	February 15, 2022	\$0.22	\$0.17	68,000
Marshall Abbott CEO and Director	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	816,666	\$0.13	December 19, 2022	\$0.27	\$0.14	116,732
<b>Joe McFarlane</b> CFO	Stock Options <sup>(4)</sup>	750,000	\$0.13	December 19, 2022	\$0.27	\$0.14	107,203
Anthony Zaidi Director	Phantom Stock Option	333,333	\$0.13	December 19, 2022	\$0.27	\$0.14	47,646
Ravi Sharma Director	Phantom Stock Option	333,333	\$0.13	December 19, 2022	\$0.27	\$0.14	47,646

# **Stock Option Plan**

The Corporation has implemented the Plan as an integral component of its compensation arrangement for Eligible Participants. A description of the Plan can be found under the heading *"Annual and Special Meeting Business – Item 5- Approval of the Option Plan"* in this Information Circular.

The purpose of the Option Plan is to provide an incentive to Eligible Participants to achieve the longer-term objectives of the Corporation; to give suitable recognition to the ability and industry of such persons who contribute materially to the success of the Corporation; and to attract and retain persons of experience and ability, by providing them with the opportunity to acquire an increased proprietary interest in the Corporation. The longer-term focus of the Option Plan complements and balances the short-term elements of the compensation program of the Corporation.

The Option Plan is administered by the Board of Directors and all decisions and interpretations of the Board of Directors respecting the Option Plan or Options granted thereunder shall be conclusive and binding on the Corporation and on the optionees. The Board of Directors may, at any time and from time to time, grant Options under the Option Plan on terms and conditions to be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, subject to the conditions contained in the Option Plan and subject to the policies of the TSXV. Previous grants of incentive stock options will not be taken into account when considering new grants.

As of the date hereof: (i) the Corporation has 19,865,000 Options outstanding under the Option Plan; and (ii) there remains for issuance under the Option Plan 3,662,489 Options, which together represents 10% of the currently outstanding Common Shares.

## **Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements**

During 2020, the Corporation entered into employment agreements with each of Mr. Gage Jull, Mr. G. Marshall Abbott and Mr. Joe McFarlane. Pursuant to those employment agreements, each executive's salary was set at \$200,000 per annum, half of which is payable in cash and half of which is payable in shares of the Corporation or equity-linked compensation in accordance with the terms of the employment agreement.

New employment agreements (the "New Employment Agreements") were made with each of Named Executive Officer as of November 23, 2021. Pursuant to the New Employment Agreements, each executive's salary was set at USD\$270,000 per annum. Effective June 1<sup>st</sup>, 2022, the salary for each executive was adjusted to USD\$350,000 per annum. The New Employment Agreements provide that the executive may also be entitled to an award under the Corporation's short or long term incentives at the discretion of the Board of Directors. If the executive's employment agreement is terminated by the Corporation without just cause or by the executive for good reason, the executive shall be entitled to all accrued and unpaid base salary and vacation pay, plus the aggregate of (i) a retiring allowance equal to two times annual base salary; (ii) an amount equal to 15% of such amount to compensate for loss of other benefits and perquisites; and (iii) a lump sum payment in lieu of cash bonus equal to the cash bonus received by the executive during the previous two calendar years, divided by two.

## **Estimated Incremental Payments on Termination Without Cause**

The following table sets forth the estimated incremental payments and benefits that would be received following termination without cause of the Named Executive Officers had such event occurred on December 31, 2022.

Name	Employment Agreements <sup>(1)</sup> (\$)	Stock Option Plan <sup>(2)</sup> (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Total (\$)
<b>Gage Jull</b> Director and Chairman of the Board	1,031,591	nil	282,234	1,313,825
Marshall Abbott CEO and Director	1,031,591	nil	298,900	1,330,491
<b>Joe McFarlane</b> CFO	1,031,591	nil	282,234	1,313,825
Phil Miller Senior VP Exploration	91,667	nil	nil	91,667

Notes:

(2) Vesting of stock options is not accelerated upon termination without cause.

<sup>(1)</sup> The employment agreements of the relevant Named Executive Officers provide for a termination payment upon a change of control or termination without just cause or other such events as described above, under the heading "*Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements.*"

### Estimated Incremental Payments on Change of Control

The following table sets forth the estimated incremental payments and benefits that would be received by the Named Executive Officers following a change of control had such event occurred on December 31, 2022.

Name	Employment Agreements (\$)	Stock Option Plan <sup>(2)</sup> (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Total (\$)
Gage Jull Director and Chairman of the Board	897,036	nil	523,901	1,420,936
Marshall Abbott CEO and Director	897,036	nil	573,900	1,470,936
<b>Joe McFarlane</b> CFO	897,036	nil	564,467	1,461,503
Phil Miller Senior VP Exploration	232,100	nil	38,511	270,611

Notes:

(1) The employment agreements of the relevant Named Executive Officers provide for a termination payment upon a change of control or termination without just cause or other such events as described above, under the heading "*Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements.*"

(2) As provided for in the Option Plan, upon a change of control all unvested Options shall vest and become immediately exercisable. Value is calculated based on the difference between the exercise of the Options and the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSXV on December 30, 2022, being \$0.29. Includes both Stock Options and Phantom Stock Options.

(3) All Phantom Shares have vested.

# **Oversight and Description of Named Executive Officer Compensation**

#### **Compensation Objectives and Process**

In assessing the compensation of its executive officers during 2022, the Corporation relied mainly on discussion between the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee reviews and recommends to the Board of Directors, among other things, policies in the following areas: corporate compensation and benefits policies, especially executive compensation, including the compensation of the CEO; terms and conditions of employee benefit plans, if any; employment agreements relating to the CEO and other executive officers of the Corporation; stock option grants to officers and employees of the Corporation; and directors' compensation. The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the overall compensation strategy of the Corporation and administering the Corporation's executive officers. As part of its mandate, the Board of Directors approves the remuneration of the Corporation's executive officers upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, including the Named Executive Officers of the Corporation. The Board of Directors is also responsible for reviewing the Corporation's executive officers and guidelines generally.

The objective of the Corporation's executive compensation program is to motivate, reward and retain management talent needed to achieve the Corporation's business objectives. The compensation program is designed to ensure that compensation is competitive with other companies of similar size and is commensurate with the experience, performance and contribution of the individuals involved and the overall performance of the Corporation. In evaluating performance, the Board of Directors gives consideration to the Corporation's long-term interests and quantitative financial objectives, as well to the qualitative aspects of the individual's performance and achievements.

Compensation for directors of the Corporation, if any, is also determined by the Board of Directors upon the recommendation of the Compensation Committee.

## **Elements of Compensation**

The Corporation's executive compensation program is comprised of three principal components: base salary, incentive bonus plan and awards granted pursuant to the Option Plan.

Executive officers are paid a base salary to compensate them for providing the leadership and specific skills needed to fulfill their responsibilities. The payment of base salaries is an important component of the Corporation's compensation program and serves to attract and retain qualified individuals. Base salaries for all employees of the Corporation are established for each position through comparative salary surveys of similar type and size corporations. In determining base salaries, the Board of Directors takes into account the knowledge of the industry and the financial resources of the Corporation.

Incentive bonuses, in the form of cash payments, are designed to add a variable component of compensation based on corporate and individual performance for executive officers and employees. Bonuses also serve as a retention incentive for executive officers so that they remain in the employ of the Corporation. In 2021, a number of significant milestones took place that were considered by the Compensation Committee when awarding bonuses and compensation including the sale of LLA 23, the listing on the AIM, the subsequent financing and company performance. The Compensation Committee and Board of Directors weighted the above events by evaluating the expected current and future value to shareholders when awarding Incentive bonuses.

Awards pursuant to the Option Plan are intended to enhance the Corporation's long-term performance by rewarding executive officers for maximizing shareholder value over time. In determining the awards to be granted to executive officers, the Board of Directors takes into account the individual's position, scope of responsibility, ability to affect profits and shareholder value and the value of the options in relation to other elements of the individual executive officer's total compensation.

For significant elements of compensation awarded to, earned by, paid or payable to each named executive officer, please see disclosure in "Part II – Statement of Executive Compensation".

# **Pension Disclosure**

The Corporation does not have a pension plan or any other plan that provides for payments or benefits at, following or in connection with retirement and is not currently providing a pension to any directors of the Corporation or Named Executive Officers. The Corporation does not have a deferred compensation plan.

## Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Plan Category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	20,590,000	\$0.24	1,250,193(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	nil	nil	nil
Total	20,590,000	\$0.24	1,250,193

Set out below is information pertaining to the Corporation's Option Plan as at the year ended December 31, 2022:

Notes:

(1) The formula used for calculating the number of securities remaining available for future issuance under the Option Plan is as follows: # of issued Shares X 10% - # of issued Options = # of Options available for future issuance

#### **Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers**

At no time since the beginning of the last completed financial year did any director or officer, or any associate of any such director or officer, owe any indebtedness to the Corporation or owe any indebtedness to any other entity which is, or at any time has been, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Corporation.

# PART IV — CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURE

In 2005, the Canadian Securities Administrators created National Policy 58-201 - *Corporate Governance Guidelines* (the "**Policy**") and National Instrument 58-101 - *Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices*, Form 58-101F1 and Form 58-101F2. The Policy addresses matters such as the constitution and independence of corporate boards, the functions to be performed by boards and their committees, and the effectiveness and education of board members. Below is the Corporation's corporate governance disclosure prescribed by Form 58-101F2 - *Corporate Governance Disclosure (Venture Issuers)* with respect to matters set out under the Policy.

# **Board of Directors**

The Board of Directors is currently comprised of six directors, four of whom are independent within the meaning of "independent" as defined in Section 1.4 National Instrument 52-110 - *Audit Committees*. The following individuals are considered independent directors: Grant M. Carnie, Ian Langley, Ravi Sharma and Anthony Zaidi. Neither Gage Jull nor Marshall Abbott is considered to be independent because they are also executive officers of the Corporation.

In order to facilitate independent judgment, members of the Board of Directors recuse themselves from the discussion of and voting on any matters of the Corporation which may be perceived to place them in a conflict of interest.

## Directorships

The following directors of the Corporation are also currently directors of other reporting issuers as set out below as of the date hereof:

Name	Name and Jurisdiction of Reporting Issuer	Name of Trading Market	Position	From	То
Gage Jull Executive Chairman	TRYP Therapeutics Inc., British Columbia	CSE	Director and Chair of Audit Committee	September 2020	Present
	GeneTether Therapeutics Inc., British Colombia	CSE	Director and Chair of Audit Committee	October 2021	Present
	Aldridge Minerals Inc.	N/A	Director	December 2017	Present
Ian Langley	Airswift Global AS	OSL	Chairman	June 2018	Present
Director	Stavanger, Norway				

# **Orientation and Continuing Education**

Each new director is given an outline of the nature of the Corporation's business, its corporate strategy, and current issues within the Corporation. New directors are also required to meet with management of the Corporation to discuss and better understand the Corporation's business and are given the opportunity to meet with counsel to the Corporation to discuss their legal obligations as directors of the Corporation.

In addition, management of the Corporation takes steps to ensure that its directors and officers are continually updated as to the latest corporate and securities policies which may affect the directors, officers and committee members of the Corporation as a whole. The Corporation continually reviews the latest securities rules and policies and is on the mailing list of the TSXV to receive updates to any of those policies. Any such changes or new requirements are then brought to the attention of the Corporation's directors either by way of director or committee meetings or by direct communication from management to the directors.

#### **Ethical Business Conduct**

To encourage and promote a culture of ethical business conduct, the Board of Directors has established a Whistleblower Policy which details the complaint procedure for financial concerns, an Insider Trading Blackout Policy which details the Corporation's policies ensuring strict compliance by all Insiders with the prohibition against insider trading, a Compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws Policy which ensures fair business dealings by prohibiting payment of any kind to government officials in order to gain improper advantages, and a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the "**Policies**"). The full text of each of the Policies is available free of charge to any person upon request to the Corporation at 203, 2303 4 Street SW T2S 2S7, Calgary, Alberta (Telephone: 403-237-5700).

In addition to the Policies, as some of the directors of the Corporation also serve as directors and officers of other companies engaged in similar business activities, the Board of Directors must comply with the conflict of interest provisions of the ABCA, as well as the relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that directors exercise independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a material interest. Any interested director would be required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and would not be entitled to vote at meetings of directors which evoke any such conflict.

# **Nomination of Directors**

The Board of Directors is responsible for identifying new candidates for board nomination after consideration of the interests, independence and experience of the individual directors and the independence and experience requirements of the TSXV and the rules and regulations of applicable law. The Board also has responsibility for assessing the performance of the Board of Directors as a whole, the committees of the Board of Directors and the individual directors. The size of the Board of Directors allows for consistent communication amongst the directors and management with respect to matters of effectiveness.

# Compensation

The compensation for the directors, CEO and senior management is approved by the Board, after receiving a recommendation from the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is comprised of at least one

independent director and is responsible for making recommendations regarding compensation for the CEO, senior management executive officers, and directors by reviewing compensation in light of the employee's role. The Compensation Committee reviews competitive market data as publicly disclosed by corporations of similar type and size for compensation of directors and officers of the Corporation and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the format and quantum of such compensation. As part of this process, external consultants may be engaged by the Compensation Committee from time to time to conduct a competitive review of and to make specific recommendations on compensation for directors and officers of the Corporation.

The Compensation Committee Charter was adopted and approved on October 2, 2018, re-approved on February 10, 2020, and is attached as Appendix B.

## **Audit Committee**

Under National Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committee, the Corporation is required to disclose information with respect to its audit committee, including the composition of the audit committee, the text of its audit committee charter (which was adopted and approved on October 2, 2018 and re-approved on February 10, 2020) and the fees paid to the external auditor. Such information is attached as Appendix A.

#### **Other Board Committees**

In addition to the Audit and Compensation committees, the Board of Directors has established the following committees:

### **Reserves** Committee

The Reserves Committee is comprised of three (3) independent directors and, among other things, assists the Board of Directors with its oversight responsibilities with respect to evaluating and reporting on the Corporation's oil and gas reserves. The Reserves Committee Charter was adopted and approved on November 27, 2018, re-approved on February 10, 2020, and is attached as Appendix C.

#### Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

The ESG Committee is comprised of three (3) directors and, among other things, assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the Corporation's social responsibility and sustainability management. The ESG Committee Charter was adopted and approved on June 6, 2022, and is attached as Appendix D.

#### Assessments

The size of the Board of Directors and management team allows for consistent communication amongst the directors and management with respect to matters of effectiveness.

# PART V – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Corporation is available under the Corporation's profile on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com.

Financial information in respect of the Corporation and its affairs is provided in the Corporation's annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the related management's discussion and analysis. Copies of the Corporation's financial statements and related management's discussion and analysis are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and will be sent by the Corporation to any Shareholder upon request by calling (403) 237-5700.

# APPENDIX A — AUDIT COMMITTEE OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

# AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

# MANDATE

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by Arrow Exploration Corp. (the "**Company**") to regulatory authorities and shareholders, the Company's systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting, and the Company's auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Audit Committee will encourage continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company's policies, procedures and practices at all levels. The Audit Committee's primary duties and responsibilities are to:

- serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company's financial reporting and internal control systems and review the Company's financial statements;
- review and appraise the performance of the Company's external auditors; and
- provide an open avenue of communication among the Company's auditors, financial and senior management and the Board of Directors.

# **COMPOSITION**

The Audit Committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the Board of Directors, the majority of whom shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would reasonably interfere with the exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of the Audit Committee. At least one member of the Audit Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise. All members of the Audit Committee that are not financially literate will work towards becoming financially literate to obtain a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices. For the purposes of the Audit Committee's Charter, the definition of "financially literate" is the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can presumably be expected to be raised by the Company's financial statements. The members of the Audit Committee shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the annual shareholders' meeting.

# MEETINGS

The Audit Committee shall meet at least four times annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its job to foster open communication, the Audit Committee will meet at least annually with the Chief Financial Officer and the external auditors in separate sessions.

# **RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES**

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Audit Committee shall:

# Documents/Reports Review

- (a) Review and update this Charter annually.
- (b) Review the Company's financial statements, MD&A and any annual and interim earnings, press releases before the Company publicly discloses this information and any reports or other financial information (including quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including any certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the external auditors.
- (c) Confirm that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company's public disclosure of financial information extracted or derived from the Company's financial statements.

## External Auditors

- (a) Review annually, the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the Company.
- (b) Obtain annually, a formal written statement of the external auditors setting forth all relationships between the external auditors and the Company, consistent with the Independence Standards Board Standard 1.
- (c) Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and independence of the external auditors.
- (d) Take, or recommend that the full Board of Directors, take appropriate action to oversee the independence of the external auditors.
- (e) Recommend to the Board of Directors the selection and compensation and, where applicable, the replacement of the external auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval.
- (f) At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the quality of the Company's accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of the Company's financial statements.
- (g) Review and approve the Company's hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company.
- (h) Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year end financial statements and intended template for such statements.
- (i) Review and pre-approve all audit and audit related services and the fees and other compensation related thereto, and any non-audit services, provided by the Company's external auditors. The pre-approval requirement is waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services if:
  - (i) the aggregate amount of all such non audit services provided to the Company constitutes not more than five percent of the total amount of fees paid by the Company to its external auditors during the fiscal year in which the non-audit services are provided;
  - (ii) such services were not recognized by the Company at the time of the engagement to be non-audit services; and
  - (iii) such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Audit Committee by the Company and approved prior to the completion of the audit by the Audit Committee or by one or more members of the Audit Committee who are members of the Board of Directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the Audit Committee. Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the Audit Committee's first scheduled meeting following such approval, such authority may be delegated by the Audit Committee to one or more independent members of the Audit Committee.

## Financial Reporting Processes

- (a) In consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company's financial reporting process, both internal and external.
- (b) Consider the external auditors' judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company's accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting.
- (c) Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company's auditing and accounting principles and practices as suggested by the external auditors and management.
- (d) Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the view of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments.

- (e) Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors any significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of work or access to required information.
- (f) Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the preparation of the financial statements.
- (g) Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in financial or accounting practices have been implemented.
- (h) Review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters.
- (i) Review certification process.
- (j) Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

### Other

Review any related party transactions.

Adopted and approved by the Board on October 2, 2018 and re-approved on February 10, 2020.

# **Composition of the Audit Committee**

The Audit Committee of the Corporation is composed of the following individuals:

Ian Langley	Independent <sup>(1)</sup>	Financially literate <sup>(3)</sup>
Anthony Zaidi	Independent <sup>(1)</sup>	Financially literate <sup>(3)</sup>
Gage Jull	Non-Independent <sup>(1)(2)</sup>	Financially literate <sup>(3)</sup>

# Notes:

- (1) A member of an audit committee is independent if the member has no direct or indirect material relationship with the Corporation which could, in the view of the Board, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a member's independent judgment.
- (2) Mr. Jull is deemed not to be independent because he is Chairman of the Board of Directors.
- (3) An individual is financially literate if he has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Corporation's financial statements.

#### **Relevant Education and Experience**

Mr. Jull has acted as a co-founder and CEO of Bordeaux Capital Inc., a financial services advisory firm primarily doing business in the natural resources sector. Mr. Jull has completed over 200 M&A and **financing** transactions during his career and also currently acts as the Chair of the Audit Committee of two other reporting issuers: TRYP Therapeutics Inc. and GeneTether Therapeutics Inc. Mr. Jull holds a B.Sc. and MBA as well as both P.Eng and CFA designations.

Mr. Langley was founder and is now chairman of Airswift Global AS. The company had billings of more \$1 billion for 2022. Mr. Langley oversaw continuous global organic expansion for over 30 years and also completed more than ten (10) merger and acquisition transactions, including four private equity investments and two listed bond

transactions. Mr. Langley is also the current chair of the Airswift Audit Committee. In addition to Airswift, Mr. Langley chairs two other private equity investments EPI Group Ltd and Boston Energy Ltd.

Mr. Zaidi is a lawyer and businessman with significant experience in corporate finance and in the mining and energy sector in Colombia. Prior to joining Canacol, Mr. Zaidi was the President and General Counsel of Carrao Energy Ltd., a private oil and gas exploration company he co-founded and co-managed until its acquisition by Canacol in November 2011. Prior to Carrao Energy Ltd., he had been an officer or director of several private and public companies, including Integral Oil Services, Pacific Rubiales Energy, Petromagdalena Energy, Medoro Resources and others, as well as a securities lawyer at Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP. Mr. Zaidi holds a Juris Doctor degree from the University of Toronto as well as a Bachelor of Commerce (Finance) degree from McGill University.

# Audit Committee Oversight

At no time since the commencement of the Corporation's most recently completed financial year has a recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not been adopted by the Corporation's board of directors.

# **Reliance on Certain Exemptions**

At no time since the commencement of the Corporation's most recently completed financial year has the Corporation relied on an exemption contained in Sections 2.4, 6.1.1(4), 6.1.1(5) and 6.1.1(6) of National Instrument 52-110 - Audit *Committees* ("**NI 52-110**) or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110.

# **Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures**

The Audit Committee has not adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit services.

# External Auditor Service Fees (By Category)

The aggregate fees billed by the Corporation's external auditors in each of the last two fiscal years are as follows:

Financial Period Ending December 31	Audit Fees (\$)	Audit Related Fees <sup>(1)</sup> (\$)	Tax Fees <sup>(2)</sup> (\$)	All Other Fees (\$)
2022	\$224,700	-	-	-
2021	\$173,875	-	-	-

#### Note:

(1) The aggregate fees billed for audit related services for assurance and related services by the Corporation's auditor's external auditor that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Corporation's financial statements. This includes a statutory audit in Columbia pursuant to local requirements.

(2) The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

(3) The aggregate fees billed for products and services provided by the Corporation's external auditor, other than services captured under "Audit Fees", "Audit Related Fees" and "Tax Fees".

# Exemption

The Corporation is relying upon the exemption in section 6.1 of NI 52-110.

# APPENDIX B — COMPENSATION COMMITTEE CHARTER OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

# PURPOSE

The purpose of the Compensation Committee is to assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to compensation of the executive officers of Arrow Exploration Corp. (the "**Company**"). The Committee's goal is to enable the Company to attract, retain and motivate talented employees who will contribute to the long-term success of the Company, by aligning compensation with market conditions, Company performance, and the interest of shareholders to maximize shareholder value.

# DUTIES

The Committee's duties and responsibilities are:

- (a) to review the compensation of Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and to make recommendations to the Board with respect to the CEO's compensation level.
- (b) to make recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation of other senior management and executive officers of the Company.
- (c) to review the compensation and benefits of the directors and to ensure that such compensation reflects the responsibilities and risks involved in being a director.
- (d) to review and make recommendations to the Board as to the general compensation and benefits policies and practices of the Company, including incentive stock options for all employees, consultants, directors and officers.
- (e) to review and approve the disclosure to be made of director and executive remuneration in the Management Information Circular.
- (f) to ensure there are appropriate training, development and benefit programs in place for management and staff.
- (g) to review and make recommendation to the Board for its approval on any special compensation and benefit arrangements.
- (h) to review its compensation practices by comparing them to surveys of relevant competitors and to set objective compensation based on this review.
- (i) to perform such other functions as the Board may from time to time assign to the Committee.
- (j) to review its charter and assess annually the adequacy of this mandate, the effectiveness of its performance, and to recommend changes to the Board for its approval.

#### COMPOSITION

All of the members of the Compensation Committee will, at all times, be independent of the Company within the meaning of applicable laws, rules, policies, guidelines and requirements as determined by the Board.

Members of the Compensation Committee shall be appointed from time to time to hold office at the pleasure of the Board.

#### **COMMITTEE CHAIR**

The Board shall appoint a Chair for the Compensation Committee.

If the Chair of the Compensation Committee is not present at any meeting of the Compensation Committee, one of the other members of the Compensation Committee who is present at the meeting shall be chosen by the Compensation Committee to preside at the meeting.

#### MEETINGS

The Compensation Committee is responsible to meet as often as required to discharge its duties.

The Chair of the Compensation Committee will, in consultation with the members, determine the schedule, time and place of meetings.

A quorum for a meeting of the Compensation Committee shall be a majority of members present in person or by telephone conference call.

Notice of the time and place of every meeting shall be given in writing (including by way of written email or facsimile communication) to each member of the Compensation Committee at least 24 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting, provided, however, that a member may in any manner waive a notice of a meeting; and attendance of a member at a meeting constitutes a waiver of notice of the meeting, except where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called.

At the invitation of the Chair of the Compensation Committee, one or more officers of the Company may attend any meeting of the Compensation Committee.

### **PROCEDURES, RECORDS AND REPORTING**

Subject to any statute or articles and by-laws of the Company, the Compensation Committee shall fix its own procedures at meetings, keep records of its proceedings and report to the Board when the Compensation Committee may deem appropriate (but not later than the next meeting of the Board). The minutes of its meetings shall be distributed to all members of the Board. All Directors shall be provided with access to any materials distributed to members of the Compensation Committee.

The Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the disclosure of executive and director compensation prepared for inclusion in the Company's annual management information circular.

# DELEGATION

The Compensation Committee may delegate, from time to time, to any individuals or sub-committees of the Compensation Committee, any of the Compensation Committee's responsibilities that lawfully may be delegated.

# MATERIALS

The Compensation Committee has access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company necessary for the discharge of its duties.

## GOVERNANCE

The Compensation Committee is responsible to annually review, and in its discretion make recommendations to the Board regarding confirmation of or changes to be made to its Charter.

## ADVISORS

The Compensation Committee has the power, at the expense of the Company, to retain, instruct, compensate and terminate independent advisors to assist the Compensation Committee in the discharge of its duties.

Adopted and approved by the Board on October 2, 2018 and re-approved by the Board on February 10, 2020.

# APPENDIX C — RESERVES COMMITTEE CHARTER OF ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

#### PURPOSE AND POLICY

The Board of Directors (the "**Board**") of Arrow Exploration Corp. (the "**Company**") has established the Reserves Committee of the Board (the "**Committee**") with authority, responsibility and specific duties as described in this Reserves Committee Charter (this "**Charter**"). The primary purpose of the Committee shall be to act on behalf of the Board in fulfilling the Board's oversight responsibilities with respect to evaluating and reporting on the Company's oil and gas reserves.

#### COMPOSITION

The Committee shall consist of at least three members of the Board. A majority of the members of the Committee shall satisfy the independence requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange and a majority of the members of the Committee will not be and will not have been during the 12 months preceding their appointment: (i) an officer or employee of the Company or an affiliate of the Company; (ii) a person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the outstanding voting securities of the Company; or (iii) a relative of a person referred to in (i) or (ii), residing in the same home as that person. The members of the Committee shall be appointed by and serve at the discretion of the Board. Vacancies occurring on the Committee shall be filled by the Board by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Board. The Chair of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board or, if it does not do so, the members of the Committee may elect a Chair by vote of a majority of the full Committee membership.

Each member of the Committee, as well as the Chairman, will be paid the fee set by the Board for his or her services as a member, or Chairman, as the case may be, of the Committee. Subject to the Company's Governance Guidelines and other policies, Committee members, including the Chairman, will be reimbursed by the Company for all reasonable expenses incurred in connection with their duties as Committee members.

# MEETINGS AND MINUTES

The Committee shall hold such regular or special meetings as its members shall deem necessary or appropriate. Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared and distributed to each director of the Company and the Secretary of the Company promptly after each meeting. The Chair of the Committee shall report to the Board from time to time, or whenever so requested by the Board. Meetings may, at the discretion of the Committee, include members of the Company's management, independent advisors and consultants or any other persons whose presence the Committee believes to be necessary or appropriate. Those in attendance may observe meetings of the Committee, but may not participate in any discussion or deliberation unless invited to do so by the Committee member may attend Committee meetings as a guest. The Committee shall meet in executive session as required and discussions may include such topics as the Committee members determine.

A majority of the Committee's members will constitute a quorum. The Committee will act on the affirmative vote of a majority of members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. The Committee may also act by unanimous written consent in lieu of a meeting.

### AUTHORITY

The Committee is delegated all authority of the Board as may be required or advisable to fulfill the purposes of the Committee. Without limiting the generality of the preceding statements, the Committee has the authority, and is entrusted with the responsibility to take the following actions. The Committee shall have authority to pay, at the expense of the Company, ordinary administrative expenses that, as determined by the Committee, are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties. The Committee shall have full access to all books, records, facilities and personnel of the Company as deemed necessary or appropriate by any member of the Committee to discharge his or her responsibilities hereunder. The Committee shall have authority to require that any of the Company's personnel, counsel, or any other consultant or advisor to the Company attend any meeting of the Committee or meet with any member of the Committee or any of its special legal, accounting or other advisors and consultants. The approval of

this Charter by the Board shall be construed as a delegation of authority to the Committee with respect to the responsibilities set forth herein.

#### RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee shall oversee the Company's (i) annual review of its oil and gas reserves, (ii) procedures for evaluating and reporting its oil and gas producing activities, (iii) compliance with applicable regulatory and securities laws relating to the preparation and disclosure of information with respect to its oil and gas reserves, and (iv) consult with the Audit Committee on such matters relating to the Company's oil and gas reserves which impact the Company's financial statements. The Committee's functions and procedures should remain flexible to address changing circumstances most effectively. To implement the Committee's purpose and policy, the Committee shall be charged with the following functions and processes with the understanding, however, that the Committee may supplement or (except as otherwise required by applicable laws or rules) deviate from these activities as appropriate under the circumstances:

**Review of Disclosure Procedures.** To review at least annually the Company's procedures relating to disclosure of information with respect to the oil and gas activities of the Company, including its procedures for complying with the disclosure requirements and restrictions of National Instrument 51-101 - *Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities* ("NI 51-101").

**Evaluation and Retention of Consultants**. To evaluate the performance of the qualified independent reserve evaluator(s) or auditor(s) (the "**Consultants**") appointed by the Company and retained to assist the Company in the annual and any quarterly evaluation or review of the Company's oil and gas reserves data, to annually assess their qualifications and independence and to determine whether to retain or to terminate the Consultants. In the case of any proposed change in the appointment of the Consultant(s), determine the reasons for the proposed change and whether there have been any disputes between the appointed Consultant(s) and management of the Company.

Approval of Engagements. To determine and approve the engagements of the Consultants and the compensation to be paid, at the Company's expense, to the Consultants.

*Provision of Information to the Consultants*. To annually review the Company's procedures for providing information to the Consultant(s) who report on the Company's reserves data for the purposes of NI 51-101.

**Review and Recommendation**. To review: (i) the content and filing of the Company's statement of reserves data and other oil and gas information specified in Form 51-101F1, (ii) the filing of the report of the Consultant(s) on the Company's reserves data in accordance with Form 51-101F2, and (iii) the content and filing of the Company's report of management and directors on oil and gas disclosure in accordance with Form 51-101F3, or such other reserves or resources disclosure documentation prepared by the Company for dissemination to the public, as applicable, and make a recommendation to the Board as to whether to approve the content and filing of such documents.

Prior to recommending that the Board approve the filing of the statement of reserves data and other oil and gas information and the report of the Consultant(s) on the Company's reserves data with the applicable regulatory authorities, to meet with management and the Consultant(s) to: (i) determine whether any restrictions affect the ability of the Consultant(s) to report on the reserves or resources data of the Company without reservation; and (ii) review the reserves data and the report of the Consultant(s) thereon.

**Press Releases.** To review and discuss with management (i) any press releases to be issued by the Company which disclose the Company's oil and gas reserves, and (ii) the substance of the Company's oil and gas reserves' information provided to analysts and ratings agencies, which discussions in each case may be general discussions of the type of information to be disclosed and, if appropriate, make recommendations to the Board regarding the issuance of such press releases.

*Separate Sessions*. Periodically, to meet in separate sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee believes should be discussed privately with the Committee.

*Correspondence with Regulators*. To consider and review with management, outside counsel, as appropriate, and, in the judgment of the Committee, such special counsel, and other consultants and advisors as the Committee deems appropriate, any correspondence with regulators or governmental agencies and any published reports that raise material issues regarding the Company's oil and gas reserves.

**Regulatory Initiatives.** To review with counsel, and management, as appropriate, any significant regulatory or other legal or accounting initiatives or matters that may have a material impact on the Company's oil and gas reserves if, in the judgment of the Committee, such review is necessary or appropriate.

Annual Charter Review. To review and assess the adequacy of this charter annually and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for approval.

*Report to Board*. To report to the Board of Directors such other matters as the Committee deems appropriate from time to time or whenever it shall be called upon to do so.

Reserves Committee Evaluation. To conduct an annual evaluation of the performance of the Committee.

*General Authority*. To perform such other functions and to have such powers as may be necessary or appropriate in the efficient and lawful discharge of the foregoing.

\* \* \*

While the Committee members have the duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, nothing contained in this Charter is intended to create, or should be construed as creating, any responsibility or liability of the Committee members, except to the extent otherwise provided under applicable federal or state law.

Adopted and approved by the Board on November 27, 2018 and re-approved by the Board on February 10, 2020.

#### APPENDIX D — ESG COMMITTEE MANDATE

#### ARROW EXPLORATION CORP. (the "Corporation")

#### **Environmental, Social & Governance Committee Mandate**

#### **Constitution and Purpose**

The Environmental, Social & Governance Committee (the "**Committee**") has been established by resolution of the Board of Directors (the "**Board**") of the Corporation for the purpose of assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with respect to the Corporation's social responsibility and sustainability management. Consistent with this function, the Committee will encourage continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Corporation's policies, procedures, and practices at all levels.

The Committee's primary roles and responsibilities are to:

- Serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the integrity and quality of the Corporation's ESG strategy.
- Ensure that the Corporation's ESG strategy is integrated into its business plan, corporate values and
  objectives and serves to foster a culture of responsibility and transparency.
- Review and approve the Corporation's annual Sustainability Report.
- Review and approve the qualifications, independence, engagement, compensation and performance of the external party chosen to provide assurance on the Corporation's annual Sustainability Report.

#### Composition

The Committee shall be composed of at least three individuals appointed by the Board from amongst its members, the majority of which will be independent. Each member of the Committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board until the member resigns, is removed or ceases to be a member of the Board. The Board shall fill vacancies in the Committee by appointment from among the members of the Board. If a vacancy exists on the Committee, the remaining members shall exercise all their powers so long as a quorum remains in office.

The Board shall appoint a chair for the Committee from its members (the "**Chair**"). If the Chair of the Committee is not present at any meeting of the Committee, one of the other members of the Committee who is present at the meeting shall be chosen by the Committee to preside at the meeting.

No Director who serves as board member of any other company shall be eligible to serve as a member of the Committee unless the Board has determined that such simultaneous service would not impair the ability of such member to effectively serve on the Committee. Determinations as to whether a particular Director satisfies the requirements for membership on the Committee shall be made by the Committee.

#### Meetings

The Committee shall meet at least twice per year and/or as deemed appropriate by the Committee Chair.

The Chair of the Committee, any member of the Committee, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer ("**CEO**") may call a meeting of the Committee by notifying the Corporation's Corporate Secretary, who will notify the members of the Committee.

A quorum at meetings of the Committee shall be its Chair and at least two of its other members or the Chairman of the Board. The Committee may hold its meetings, and members of the Committee may attend meetings, by means of teleconference.

The Committee may invite any officer or employee of the Corporation, legal counsel, the Corporation's governance or compensation advisors and any other persons to attend meetings and give presentations with respect to their area of responsibility, as considered necessary by the Committee.

The minutes of the Committee meetings shall accurately record the decisions reached and shall be distributed to the Committee members with copies to the Board, the CEO, the CFO or such other officers acting in those capacities.

A member of the Committee shall be available at the annual general meeting of the Corporation to respond to any shareholder questions on the activities and responsibilities of the Committee.

#### Authority

The Committee is authorized by the Board to:

- Investigate any matter within its Terms of Reference
- Have direct communication with the Corporation's external party providing assurance on ESG.
- Seek any information it requires from any employee of the Corporation.
- Retain, at its discretion, outside legal or other advisors, at the expense of the Corporation, to obtain advice and assistance in respect of any matters relating to its duties.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities**

The ESG Committee shall have the roles and responsibilities set out below as well as any other functions that are specifically delegated to the Committee by the Board and that the Board is authorized to delegate by applicable laws and regulations.

- Assist the Board in establishing and monitoring the Corporation's ESG policies and practices.
- Propose changes as necessary from time to time to respond to ESG recommendations or guidelines
- from authorities or investors as well as changes in the Corporation's business environment.
- Assist the Board with an annual review of the Board and Committee structure.
- Ensure that the Corporation has in effect adequate policies and procedures to identify and manage the principal ESG risks of the Corporation's business.
- Review the main challenges the Corporation faces in ESG.
- Review and approve material ESG disclosure.
- Review and approve the external party assurance process and report.

#### **Committee Effectiveness Procedures**

The Committee shall review its Terms of Reference on an annual basis, or more often as required, to ensure that they remain adequate and relevant, and incorporate any material changes in statutory and regulatory requirements and the Corporation's business environment. The procedures outlined in these Terms of Reference are meant to serve as guidelines, and the Committee may adopt such different or additional procedures as it deems necessary from time to time.

In setting the agenda for the meeting, the Chair shall encourage the Committee members, management and other members of the Board to provide input in order to address emerging issues.

Any written material provided to the Committee shall be relevant and concise and shall be distributed in advance of the respective meeting with sufficient time to allow Committee members to review and understand the information.

The Committee shall conduct an annual self-assessment of its performance and these Terms of Reference and shall make recommendations to the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee with respect thereto.

Committee members shall be provided with an orientation program to educate them on the Corporation's ESG policies and practices.

## APPENDIX E — STOCK OPTION PLAN

(see attached)

#### ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

# STOCK OPTION PLAN AUGUST 8, 2023

#### ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1 **DEFINITIONS**

As used herein, unless anything in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

"**Administrator**" means such director or other senior officer or employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Board from time to time;

"Award Date" means the date on which the Board grants and announces a particular Option;

"**Blackout Period**" means a period: (i) formally imposed by the Company pursuant to its internal trading policies as a result of the *bona fide* existence of undisclosed material information; (ii) during which an Option Holder is prohibited from exercising, redeeming, or settling their Options; and (iii) which expires after the general disclosure of such material undisclosed information.

"Board" means the board of directors of the Company;

"**Company**" means Arrow Exploration Corp. and any subsidiary thereof, (within the meaning of the Securities Act), as the context may apply;

"**Consultant**" means, in relation to the Company, an individual (other than a Director, Officer or Employee of the Issuer or of any of its subsidiaries) or company that:

- (a) is engaged to provide on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Issuer or to any of its subsidiaries, other than services provided in relation to a distribution of securities;
- (b) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the individual or the Company, as the case may be; and
- (c) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Issuer or of any of its subsidiaries.

"Consultant Company" means a Consultant that is a company.

"**Director**" means a director, Officer or Management Company Employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

**"Eligible Participant**" means a Director, Employee or Consultant of the Company, or any other individual or person who may be granted an Option pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange.

"Employee" means:

- (a) an individual considered an employee under the *Income Tax Act*, Canada and for whom income tax and other deductions must be made at source;
- (b) an individual who works full time for the Company or a subsidiary providing services normally provided by an employee of the Company and who is subject to the same control and direction by the Company or its subsidiary over the details and methods of work as an employee of the Issuer or of the subsidiary, as the case may be, but for whom income tax deductions are not made at source; or
- (c) an individual who works for the Company on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and direction by the Issuer or its subsidiary over the details and methods of work as an employee of the Issuer or of the subsidiary, as the case may be, but for whom income tax deductions are not made at source.

"Exchange" means the TSX Venture Exchange;

"**Exercise Notice**" means the notice respecting the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule "B" hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder;

**"Exercise Period**" means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised, being the period from and including the Award Date through to and including the Expiry Date;

**"Exercise Price**" means the price at which an Option may be exercised as determined in accordance with section 3.6;

**"Expiry Date**" means the date determined in accordance with section 3.3 and after which a particular Option cannot be exercised;

"**Insider**" means a Director or senior officer of the Company, a director or senior officer of a company that is an Insider or subsidiary of the Company, or a person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting shares carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the Company.

"Investor Relations Service Provider" includes any Consultant that performs Investor Relations Activities and any Director, Officer or Employee whose role and duties primarily consist of Investor Relations Activities.

"Investor Relations Activities" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Exchange's corporate finance manual;

"**Management Company Employee**" means an individual employed by a Company providing management services to the Issuer, which services are required for the ongoing successful operation of the business enterprise of the Issuer;

"Officer" means an officer (as defined under Securities Laws) of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries.

**"Option**" means an option to acquire Shares, awarded to a Director, Employee or Consultant pursuant to the Plan;

"Option Certificate" means the certificate issued by the Corporation evidencing an Option;

**"Option Holder**" means a current or former Director, Employee or Consultant who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person;

"**Personal Representative**" means (i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and (ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder;

"Plan" means this stock option plan;

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act (Alberta); and

"Share" or "Shares" means, as the case may be, one or more common shares without par value in the capital of the Company.

#### 1.2 CHOICE OF LAW

The Plan is established under, and the provisions of the Plan shall be interpreted and construed solely in accordance with, the laws of the Province of Alberta.

## 1.3 HEADINGS

The headings used herein are for convenience only and are not to affect the interpretation of the Plan.

#### ARTICLE 2 PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION

## 2.1 PURPOSE

The purpose of the Plan is to provide the Company with a Share related mechanism to attract, retain and motivate Eligible Participants, to reward such of those persons by the grant of options under the Plan by the Board from time to time for their contributions toward the long term goals of the Company and to enable and encourage such persons to acquire Shares as long term investments.

## 2.2 PARTICIPATION

Eligible Participants are eligible to participate in this Plan and to be granted Options hereunder. Except in relation to Consultant Companies, Options may be granted only to an individual or to a company that is wholly-owned by individuals entitled to receive Options hereunder. Any company which is granted Options, other than a Consultant Company, must agree, as a condition to such grant not to effect or permit any transfer of ownership or option of securities of it nor to issue further shares of any class to any other individual or entity as long as the Options remain outstanding, except with the prior written consent of the Exchange.

The Board shall, from time to time, in its sole discretion determine those Eligible Participants, if any, to whom Options are to be awarded. If the Board elects to award an Option to a Director, the Board shall, in its sole discretion but subject to section 3.2, determine the number of Shares to be acquired on the exercise of such Option. If the Board elects to award an Option to an Employee or Consultant, the number of Shares to be acquired on the exercise of such Option, and in so doing the Board may take into account the following criteria:

(a) the person's remuneration as at the Award Date in relation to the total remuneration payable by the Company to all of its Employees and Consultants as at the Award Date;

- (b) the length of time that the person has provided services to the Company; and
- (c) the nature and quality of work performed by the person.

When Options are granted to Employees or Consultants, the Company and the grantee are both responsible for ensuring and confirming that the grantee is a *bona fide* Employee or Consultant, as the case may be.

## 2.3 NOTIFICATION OF AWARD

Following the approval by the Board of the awarding of an Option, the Administrator shall notify the Option Holder in writing of the award and shall enclose with such notice the Option Certificate representing the Option so awarded.

# 2.4 COPY OF PLAN

Each Option Holder, concurrently with the notice of the award of the Option, shall be provided with a copy of this Plan. A copy of any amendment to the Plan shall be promptly provided by the Administrator to each Option Holder.

# 2.5 LIMITATION ON RIGHTS

This Plan does not give any Option Holder who is a Director the right to serve or continue to serve as a Director, nor does it give any Option Holder who is an Employee or Consultant the right to be or to continue to be employed or engaged by the Company.

No Option granted under this Plan shall grant an Option Holder any rights as a Shareholder.

#### ARTICLE 3 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS

## 3.1 BOARD TO ALLOT SHARES

The Shares to be issued to Option Holders upon the exercise of Options shall be allotted and authorized for issuance by the Board prior to the exercise thereof. The Board is authorized to set all other terms and conditions of the Options, subject to the terms of the Plan and the rules of the Exchange.

## 3.2 NUMBER OF SHARES

The maximum number of Shares issuable under the Plan at any time, plus the number of Shares reserved for issue under all other security based compensation plans, shall not exceed 10% of the number of Shares of the Company issued and outstanding as of each Award Date, inclusive of all Shares presently reserved for issuance pursuant to previously granted stock options, unless approved by the Exchange and requisite Shareholder approval, if any, is obtained in advance in accordance with section 6.5 hereof.

Options that have been cancelled, surrendered (other than Options surrendered pursuant to the Net Exercise Right (as defined herein), forfeited or that have expired without being exercised in full shall continue to be issuable under the Plan.

# 3.3 TERM OF OPTION

Subject to section 3.6, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be the date so fixed by the Board at the time the particular Option is awarded, provided that such date shall not be later than the tenth anniversary of the Award Date of the Option.

# 3.4 EXTENSION IN THE EVENT OF BLACKOUT

If an option granted under this Plan expires while the holder thereof is subject to a Blackout Period, the expiry date of such option(s) shall automatically be extended to the date that is ten (10) business days after the conclusion of the Blackout Period. Following the expiry of the Blackout Period, the Company shall promptly notify each holder of such options that the Blackout Period has expired and of the extended expiry date of their options pursuant to this Section 3.4.

## 3.5 GRANT LIMITATIONS

Unless the Corporation has obtained the requisite disinterested Shareholder approval, the maximum aggregate number of Shares that are issuable pursuant to all security based compensation:

- (a) granted or issued to Insiders (as a group) must not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares at any point in time;
- (b) granted or issued in any 12 month period to Insiders (as a group) must not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Shares, calculated as at the date any security based compensation is granted or issued to any Insider; and
- (c) granted or issued in any 12 month period to any one person (or any Companies that are wholly owned by that person) must not exceed 5% of the Issued Shares of the Issuer, calculated as at the Award Date.

The total number of Shares issuable pursuant to Options to any one Consultant shall not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company at the Award Date.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable pursuant to all Options granted in any 12 month period to all Investor Relations Service Providers must not exceed 2% of the Issued Shares of the Issuer, calculated as at the Award Date.

# 3.6 TERMINATION OF OPTION

An Option Holder may exercise an Option that has vested in whole or in part at any time or from time to time during the Exercise Period provided that, with respect to the exercise of part of an Option, the Board may at any time and from time to time fix limits, vesting requirements or restrictions in respect of which an Option Holder may exercise part of any Option held by him. Any Option or part thereof not exercised within the Exercise Period shall terminate and become null, void and of no effect as of 5:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on the Expiry Date. The Expiry Date of an Option shall be the earlier of the date so fixed by the Board in accordance with section 3.3 above, and the date established, if applicable, in subsections (a) to (c) below.

(a) <u>Death</u>

In the event that the Option Holder should die while he or she is still (i) a Director, Officer or Employee, (other than an Employee performing Investor Relations Activities) the Expiry Date shall be 12 months from the date of death of the Option Holder; or (ii) a

Consultant, or an Employee performing Investor Relations Activities, the Expiry Date shall be one month from the date of death of the Option Holder.

#### (b) Ceasing to Hold Office

In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as Director and such Option Holder ceases to be a Director of the Company other than by reason of death, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be the 90th day following the date the Option Holder ceases to be a Director of the Company unless the Option Holder continues to be engaged by the Company as an Employee or Consultant, in which case the Expiry Date shall remain unchanged. However, if the Option Holder ceases to be a Director of the Company as a result of:

- (i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in section 105 of the *Business Corporations Act* (Alberta); or
- (ii) a special resolution having been passed by the members of the Company pursuant to sections 108 and 109 of the *Business Corporations Act* (Alberta),

then the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to be a Director of the Company.

#### (c) <u>Ceasing to be Employed</u>

In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant of the Company (other than an Employee or Consultant performing Investor Relations Activities) and such Option Holder ceases to be an Employee or Consultant of the Company other than by reason of death, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be the 30th day following the date the Option Holder ceases to be an Employee or Consultant of the Company unless the Option Holder ceases to be such as a result of:

- (i) termination for cause; or
- (ii) an order of the Alberta Securities Commission, the Exchange, or any regulatory body having jurisdiction to so order,

in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to be an Employee or Consultant of the Company.

#### (d) <u>Ceasing to Perform Investor Relations Activities</u>

Notwithstanding the paragraph (c) immediately above, in the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant of the Company who provides Investor Relations Activities on behalf of the Company, and such Option Holder ceases to be an Employee or Consultant of the Company other than by reason of death, the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to be an Employee or Consultant of the Company other than by reason of death, the factor of the Company.

#### 3.7 ADJUSTMENTS

- (a) For the purposes of this section, "**Change of Control**" shall include:
  - (i) the acquisition by any persons acting jointly or in concert (as determined by the Securities Act (Alberta)), whether directly or indirectly, of common shares of the

Company that, together with all other common shares of the Company held by such persons, constitute in the aggregate more than 50% of all outstanding voting securities of the Company;

- (ii) an amalgamation, arrangement or other form of business combination of the Company with another corporation that results in the holders of voting securities of that other corporation holding, in the aggregate, more than 50% of all outstanding voting securities of the corporation resulting from the business combination;
- (iii) the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Company to another person, other than in the ordinary course of business of the Company or to a related entity; or
- (iv) any other transaction that is deemed to be a "Change of Control" for the purposes of this Plan by the Board in its sole discretion.
- (b) The number of Shares delivered to an Option Holder upon exercise of an Option must be adjusted in the following events and manner, subject to the right of the Board to make such additional or other adjustments as it considers appropriate in the circumstances:
  - (i) upon a subdivision of the Shares into a greater number of Shares, a consolidation of the Shares into a lesser number of Shares or the issue of a stock dividend to holders of the Shares (other than dividends in the ordinary course), the number of Shares authorized to be issued under the Plan, the number of Shares receivable on the exercise of an option and the exercise price thereof will be increased or reduced proportionately and the Company will deliver upon the exercise of an option, in addition to or in lieu of the number of optioned shares in respect of which the right to purchase is being exercised and without the Option Holder making any additional payment, such greater or lesser number of Shares as results from the subdivision, consolidation or stock dividend; and
  - (ii) upon a capital reorganization, reclassification or change of the Shares, a consolidation, merger, amalgamation, arrangement or other form of corporate reorganization or combination of the Company with another corporation or a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, the Company will deliver upon exercise of an Option, in lieu of the optioned Shares in respect of which the right to purchase is being exercised, the kind and amount of shares or other securities or assets as result from such event,

provided that any such adjustment, other than in connection with a security consolidation or security split, shall be subject to prior acceptance by the Exchange.

The purpose of such adjustments is to ensure that any Option Holder exercising an Option after any such event will be in the same position as such Option Holder would have been in if he or she had exercised the Option prior to such event. Such adjustment will take effect at the time of the event giving rise to the adjustment, and the adjustments provided for in this subsection are cumulative.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, in the event of a proposed Change of Control, the Board may, as deemed necessary or equitable by the Board in its sole discretion, determine the manner in which all unexercised Options granted under the Plan will be treated including, for example, requiring the acceleration (conditionally or otherwise) of the time for the exercise of such Options by the Option Holder and of the

time for the fulfillment of any conditions or restrictions on such exercise, subject to the rights provided to Option Holders set forth in subsection 3.7 (d). All determinations of the Board under this Section will be binding for all purposes of the Plan. If the Board elects to accelerate (conditionally or otherwise) the vesting of any or all outstanding Options immediately prior to the completion of any such transaction, it may also determine that all such outstanding Options will be purchased by the Company or a related entity for an amount per option equal to the "Transaction Price" (as defined below), less the applicable Exercise Price (except that where the Exercise Price exceeds the Transaction Price, the amount per option for such options will be \$0.01), as of the date such transaction is determined to have occurred or as of such other date prior to the transaction closing date as the Board may determine. For purposes of this paragraph, "**Transaction Price**" means the fair market value of a Share based on the consideration payable in the applicable transaction as determined by the Board.

- (d) If an Offer is made which, if successful, would result in a Change of Control, then all unexercised and unvested outstanding options shall immediately vest and become exercisable by the Option Holders, notwithstanding any other vesting provisions in the Plan or in an option agreement, as to all or any of the Shares in respect of which such options have not previously been exercised, but such shares may only be purchased for tender pursuant to such Offer. If for any reason such Shares are not taken up and paid for by the offeror pursuant to the Offer, any such Shares so purchased by an Option Holder shall be deemed to be cancelled and returned to the treasury of the Company. shall be added back to the number of Shares remaining available under the Plan and, upon presentation to the Company of share certificates representing such shares properly endorsed for transfer back to the Company, the Company shall refund to the Option Holder all consideration paid for such shares and, in such event, the Option Holder shall thereafter continue to hold the same number of unexercised and unvested outstanding options on the same terms and conditions, including the exercise price thereof, as were applicable thereto immediately prior to time the subject Offer was made. For purposes of this subsection, "Offer" means an offer made generally to the holders of Shares in one or more jurisdictions to acquire, directly or indirectly, Shares and which is in the nature of a "takeover bid" as defined in the Securities Act, as amended, and where the Offer is not exempt from the formal bid requirements of the Securities Act.
- (e) The Company will not be required to issue fractional Shares or other securities under the Plan and any fractional interest in a Share or other security that would otherwise be delivered upon the exercise of an Option will be cancelled.
- (f) Except as expressly provided in this Section or as determined by the Board, neither the issue by the Company of shares of any class or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of any class, nor the conversion or exchange of such shares or securities, affects, and no adjustment by reason thereof is to be made with respect to, the number of Shares that may be acquired on the exercise of any outstanding Option or the exercise price of any outstanding Option.

## 3.8 EXERCISE PRICE

The Exercise Price shall be that price per Share, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion, and announced as of the Award Date, at which an Option Holder may purchase a Share upon the exercise of an Option, provided that it shall not be less than the closing price of the Company's Shares traded through the facilities of the Exchange (or, if the Shares are no longer listed for trading on the Exchange, then such other exchange or quotation system on which the Shares are listed or quoted for trading) on the day preceding the Award Date, less any discount permitted by the Exchange, or such other price as may be required or permitted by the Exchange.

# 3.9 ASSIGNMENT OF OPTIONS

Options may not be assigned or transferred, and all Option Certificates will be so legended, including with any applicable Exchange legend, provided however that the Personal Representatives of an Option Holder may, to the extent permitted by section 4.1, exercise the Option within the Exercise Period.

# 3.10 RIGHT TO TERMINATE OPTIONS ON SALE OF COMPANY

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, if the Board at any time by resolution declares it advisable to do so in connection with any proposed sale or conveyance of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the Company or any proposed merger, consolidation, amalgamation or offer to acquire all of the outstanding Shares (collectively, the "Proposed Transaction"), the Company may give written notice to all Option Holders advising them that, within 30 days after the date of the notice and not thereafter, each Option Holder must advise the Board whether the Option Holder desires to exercise its Options prior to the closing of the Proposed Transaction, and that upon the failure of an Option Holder to provide such notice within the 30-day period, all rights of the Option Holder will terminate, provided that the Proposed Transaction is completed within 180 days after the date of the notice. If the Proposed Transaction is not completed within the 180-day period, no right under any Option will be exercised or affected by the notice, except that the Option may not be exercised between the date of expiration of the 30-day period and the day after the expiration of the 180-day period. If an Option Holder gives notice that the Option Holder desires to exercise its Options prior to the closing of the Proposed Transaction, then all Options which the Option Holder elected by notice to exercise will be exercised immediately prior to the effective date of the Proposed Transaction or such earlier time as may be required to complete the Proposed Transaction.

# 3.11 EXERCISE RESTRICTIONS

The Board may, at the time an Option is awarded or upon renegotiation of the same, attach restrictions relating to the exercise of the Option, including vesting provisions, provided that no Options may vest before the date that is one year following date it is granted, subject to earlier vesting in those circumstances set forth in this Option Plan. In the event of the death of an Option Holder, their Options may be exercised within the earlier of the expiry date and a period of time not exceeding 12 months, and only to the extent the Optionee was entitled to exercise the Options at the date of death.

Notwithstanding the above, Options issued to Investor Relations Service Providers must vest in stages over at least twelve months with not more than one quarter of the Options vesting in any three month period.

All such restrictions shall be recorded on the applicable Option Certificate.

## 3.12 **REPRESENTATIONS**

For Options granted to Employees, Consultants or Management Company Employees, the Company will represent that the Option Holder is a *bona fide* Employee, Consultant or Management Company Employee, as the case may be.

#### ARTICLE 4 EXERCISE OF OPTION

## 4.1 EXERCISE OF OPTION

(a) An Option may be exercised only by the Option Holder or his Personal Representative. An Option Holder or his Personal Representative may exercise an Option in whole or in part, subject to any applicable exercise restrictions, at any time or from time to time during the Exercise Period up to 5:00 p.m. (Vancouver time) on the Expiry Date by delivering to the Administrator an Exercise Notice, the applicable Option Certificate and a certified cheque or bank draft payable to the Company in an amount equal to the aggregate Exercise Price of the Shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of the Option.

- (b) Each Option Holder, other than Investor Relations Service Providers, shall have the alternative, when entitled to exercise an Option, to deal with such Option on a "net exercise" basis, (the "**Net Exercise Right**") in the manner set out and in accordance with the terms of this Plan. Without limitation, the Board may determine in its discretion that such Net Exercise Right, if any, grant an Option Holder the right to surrender such Option in whole or in part by notice in writing to the Company and in lieu of receiving Shares pursuant to the exercise of the Option, receive, that number of Shares, disregarding fractions, which is equal to the quotient obtained by:
  - subtracting the Exercise Price from the VWAP of the Shares on the business day immediately prior to the exercise of the Net Exercise Right and multiplying the remainder by the number of Shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of the Option; and
  - dividing the net amount obtained under subsection 4.1(b)(i) by the VWAP of the Shares on the business day immediately prior to the exercise of the Net Exercise Right,

provided that the Option Holder pays to the Company an amount equal to the tax obligations applicable to the Shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of the Option or otherwise makes arrangements satisfactory to the Company in accordance with Section 4.5.

(c) Where an Option Holder chooses to use the Net Exercise Right, the Company shall make the election provided for in subsection 110(1.1) of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) in circumstances where the Option Holder is otherwise eligible for the deduction provided for in paragraph 110(1)(d) of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada).

# 4.2 ISSUE OF SHARE CERTIFICATES

As soon as practicable following the receipt of the Exercise Notice, the Administrator shall cause to be delivered to the Option Holder a certificate for the Shares so purchased. If the number of Shares so purchased is less than the number of Shares subject to the Option Certificate surrendered, the Administrator shall forward a new Option Certificate to the Option Holder concurrently with delivery of the aforesaid share certificate for the balance of the Shares available under the Option.

# 4.3 CONDITION OF ISSUE

The issue of Shares by the Company pursuant to the exercise of an Option is subject to this Plan and compliance with the laws, rules and regulations of all regulatory bodies applicable to the issuance and distribution of such Shares and to the listing requirements of any stock exchange or exchanges on which the Shares may be listed. The Option Holder agrees to comply with all such laws, rules and regulations and agrees to furnish to the Company any information, report and/or undertakings required to comply with and to fully cooperate with the Company in complying with such laws, rules and regulations.

# 4.4 MONITORING OF TRADES

An Option Holder who performs Investor Relations Activities shall provide written notice to the Board of each of his trades of securities of the Company, within five business days of each trade.

## 4.5 WITHHOLDINGS

To the extent required under applicable law or regulation, the Company shall be entitled to take all reasonable and necessary steps, including the sale of any Shares issued upon the exercise of an Option (other than a redemption or purchase for cancellation), or obtain all reasonable or necessary indemnities, assurances or undertakings to satisfy any tax remittance obligations of the Company or any subsidiary to any taxing authorities arising in respect of the Option Holder's exercise of the Option granted or any other stock options heretofore granted by the Company to the Option Holder and the President of the Company be and is hereby appointed as the irrevocable attorney-in-fact for the Option Holder to take all such reasonable and necessary steps or Share sales. The Company does not accept responsibility for the price obtained on the sale of such Shares.

Option Holders (or their beneficiaries) shall be responsible for all taxes with respect to any Options under the Plan or any Option agreement, whether as a result of the grant or exercise of Options or otherwise. The Company makes no guarantee to any person regarding the tax treatment of Options or payments made under the Plan or any Option agreement and none of the Company, or any of its employees or representatives shall have any liability to the Option Holder with respect thereto.

#### ARTICLE 5 ADMINISTRATION

## 5.1 ADMINISTRATION

The Plan shall be administered by the Board, or an Administrator on the instructions of the Board or such committee of the Board formed in respect of matters relating to the Plan. The Board or such committee may make, amend and repeal at any time and from time to time such regulations not inconsistent with this Plan as it may deem necessary or advisable for the proper administration and operation of this Plan and such regulations shall form part of this Plan. The Board may delegate to the Administrator or any Director, Employee or officer of the Company such administrative duties and powers as it may see fit.

#### 5.2 INTERPRETATION

The interpretation by the Board or its authorized committee of any of the provisions of this Plan and any determination by it pursuant thereto shall be final and conclusive and shall not be subject to any dispute by any Option Holder. No member of the Board or any person acting pursuant to authority delegated by the Board hereunder shall be liable for any action or determination in connection with this Plan made or taken in good faith and each member of the Board and each such person shall be entitled to indemnification with respect to any such action or determination in the manner provided for by the Company.

#### ARTICLE 6 APPROVALS, AMENDMENTS AND TERMINATION

# 6.1 APPROVALS REQUIRED FOR PLAN

Prior to its implementation by the Company, this Plan is subject to the receipt of approval by the shareholders of the Company at a general meeting and approval of the Exchange.

#### 6.2 **PROSPECTIVE AMENDMENT**

Subject to applicable regulatory approval, the Board may from time to time amend this Plan and the terms and conditions of any Option thereafter to be awarded and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, may make such amendments for the purpose of meeting any changes in any relevant law,

Exchange policy, rule or regulation applicable to this Plan, any Option or the Shares, or for any other purpose which may be permitted by all relevant laws, rules and regulations, provided always that any such amendment shall not alter the terms or conditions of any Option or impair any right of any Option Holder pursuant to any Option awarded prior to such amendment.

# 6.3 RETROACTIVE AMENDMENT

Subject to applicable regulatory approval, the Board may from time to time retroactively amend this Plan and may also, with the consent of the affected Option Holders, retroactively amend the terms and conditions of any Options which have been previously awarded.

# 6.4 EXCHANGE APPROVAL

With the consent of affected Option Holders, the Board may amend the terms of any outstanding Option so as to reduce the number of optioned Shares, increase the Exercise Price, or cancel an Option without Exchange approval. Any other amendment will be subject to receiving prior Exchange approval.

# 6.5 SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

This Plan must be approved by the Company's shareholders annually, at a duly called meeting of the shareholders. Shareholder approval (including disinterested shareholder approval) shall also be obtained when and if required by the applicable policies of the Exchange in connection with the grant, extension, reduction in exercise price or other amendment of any Option; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, disinterested Shareholder approval will be obtained for any reduction in the exercise price of an Option, or the extension of the term of an Option, if the holder is an Insider at the time of the proposed amendment.

# 6.6 TERMINATION

The Board may terminate this Plan at any time provided that such termination shall not alter the terms or conditions of any Option or impair any right of any Option Holder pursuant to any Option awarded prior to the date of such termination and notwithstanding such termination the Company, such Options and such Option Holders shall continue to be, governed by the provisions of this Plan.

# 6.7 AGREEMENT

The Company and every person to whom an Option is awarded hereunder shall be bound by and subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan.

#### **APPENDIX F**

# NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-102, CHANGE OF AUDITOR REPORTING PACKAGE

(see attached)



ARROW EXPLORATION CORP. (the "Corporation")

#### NOTICE OF CHANGE OF AUDITOR

TO: Deloitte LLP

AND TO: Ernst & Young LLP

AND TO: British Columbia Securities Commission Alberta Securities Commission Saskatchewan Securities Commission Ontario Securities Commission TSX Venture Exchange

RE: Notice Regarding Change of Auditor Pursuant to Section 4.11 of National Instrument 51-102- Continuous Disclosure Obligations ("NI 51-102")

Notice is hereby given of a change of the auditor of the Corporation pursuant to Section 4.11 of NI 51-102. Take notice that:

- (a) Effective on October 31, 2022, Deloitte LLP (the "Former Auditor") at the request of the Corporation resigned as the Corporation's auditor;
- (b) the Corporation has appointed Ernst & Young LLP (the "Successor Auditor") as the auditor of the Corporation, effective October 31, 2022, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements;
- (c) the resignation of the Former Auditor and the recommendation to appoint the Successor Auditor were considered by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation;
- (d) there were no modified opinions expressed in the Former Auditor's reports on any of the financial statements of the Corporation commencing at the beginning of the two most recently completed fiscal years and ending on December 31, 2021, and in the period to the date of this Notice; and
- (e) in the opinion of the Corporation, there are no reportable events (as defined in Section 4.11 of National Instrument 51-102 *Continuous Disclosure Obligations*

DATED this 1st day of November, 2022,

#### ARROW EXPLORATION CORP.

Per: <u>(s)</u> "Marshall Abbott" Marshall Abbott Chief Executive Officer

ARROW Exploration Corp. 550, 333 11 Avenue SW, Calgary, AB, T2R 1L9 Canada (403)-237-5700 www.arrowexploration.ca



Ernst & Young LLP Calgary City Centre 2200 - 215 2nd Street SW Calgary, AB T2P 1M4 Tel: +1 403 290 4100 Fax: +1 403 290 4265 ey.com

November 1, 2022

Alberta Securities Commission British Columbia Securities Commission Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan Ontario Securities Commission

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

#### Re: Arrow Exploration Corp. Change of Auditor Notice dated 2022/November/01

Pursuant to National Instrument 51-102 (Part 4.11), we have read the above-noted Change of Auditor Notice and confirm our agreement with the information contained in the Notice pertaining to our firm.

Yours sincerely,

Ernet + Young LLP

cc: The Board of Directors, Arrow Exploration Corp.

# **Deloitte.**

Deloitte LLP 700, 850 2 Street SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R8 Canada

Tel: 403-267-1700 Fax: 587-774-5379 www.deloitte.ca

November 1, 2022

To: British Columbia Securities Commission Alberta Securities Commission Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan – Securities Division Ontario Securities Commission TSX Venture Exchange

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

As required by subparagraph (5)(a)(ii) of section 4.11 of National Instrument 51-102, we have reviewed the change of auditor notice of Arrow Exploration Corp. dated November 1, 2022 (the "Notice") and, based on our knowledge of such information at this time, as it relates to Deloitte LLP, we agree with the statements contained in the Notice.

Yours very truly,

Deloitte LLP

**Chartered Professional Accountants**